

### Community Resilience, Adaptation, and Innovation The Case of the Social Economy in La Ronge

Kimberly Brown Isobel M. Findlay Robert Dobrohoczki

A research report prepared for the Northern Ontario, Manitoba, and Saskatchewan Regional Node of the Social Economy Suite

Funded by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada Conseil de recherches en sciences humaines du Canada

Entreprises sociales économies intelligentes et communautés durables

# COMMUNITY RESILIENCE, ADAPTATION, AND INNOVATION

This paper is part of a collection of research reports prepared for the project Linking, Learning, Leveraging

Social Enterprises, Knowledgeable Economies, and Sustainable Communities, the Northern Ontario, Manitoba, and Saskatchewan Regional Node of the Social Economy Suite, funded by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada.

The project is managed by four regional partners — the Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and the Community-University Institute for Social Research at the University of Saskatchewan, the Institute of Urban Studies at the University of Winnipeg, and the Community Economic and Social Development Unit at Algoma University College.

The project also includes more than fifty community-based organizations in four provinces, the United States, Colombia, and Belgium.

This particular research paper was administered by the Community-University Institute for Social Research (CUISR). The opinions of the authors found herein do not necessarily reflect those of CUISR, the Linking, Learning, Leveraging project, or the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada.

Further acknowledgements are found on page vii.



# COMMUNITY RESILIENCE, ADAPTATION, AND INNOVATION THE CASE OF THE SOCIAL ECONOMY IN LA RONGE

KIMBERLY BROWN
ISOBEL M. FINDLAY
ROBERT DOBROHOCZKI





Copyright © 2011 Kimberly Brown, Isobel M. Findlay, and Rob Dobrohoczki Centre for the Study of Co-operatives Community-University Institute for Social Research University of Saskatchewan

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form or by any means without the prior written permission of the publisher. In the case of photocopying or other forms of reprographic reproduction, please consult Access Copyright, the Canadian Copyright Licensing Agency, at 1–800–893–5777.

Editing, cover and interior design by Nora Russell Centre for the Study of Co-operatives

Printed in Canada 11 12 13 / 3 2 1

Centre for the Study of Co-operatives 101 Diefenbaker Place University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon SK Canada S7N 5B8

Phone: (306) 966–8509 Fax: (306) 966–8517

E-mail: coop.studies@usask.ca Website: www.usaskstudies.coop Community-University Institute for Social Research

R.J.D. Williams Building University of Saskatchewan 432 – 221 Cumberland Avenue Saskatoon SK Canada S7N 1M3

Phone: (306) 966-2136 / Fax: (306) 966-2122

E-mail: cuisr.liaison@usask.ca Website: www/usask.ca/cuisr

#### Contents

Acknowledgements	vii
Abstract	1
Introduction	3
Organization of the Report	4
The Community of La Ronge	5
Current Situation: Opportunities and Challenges	6
Isolation	6
Globalization	9
The Culture of Big Government and a Legacy of Dependency	10
Skills Shortage and a Transient Population	11
Housing Crisis	13
Race, Class, and Gender Divisions	15
RESPONSES FROM THE SOCIAL ECONOMY	17
Economic Leakage	18
Business and Organizational Development	19
Education and Skill Development	21
Health and Safety	22
Recreation	22
Cultural Sustainability	23
Diversity and Inclusion	24
Synergies, Partnerships, and Collaborations	26

CHALLENGES FACING THE SOCIAL ECONOMY	29
Co-operation and Collaboration	29
Administrative and Jurisdictional Boundaries	29
Communication	32
Understanding and Recognition of the Social Economy	34
Internal Organizational Development	37
Conclusion	39
APPENDIX A: INVITATION TO PARTICIPATE	41
Appendix B: Interview Consent Form	43
Appendix C: Interview Guide	46
References	49
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS — COMMUNITY-UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE FOR SOCIAL RESEARCH	51
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS — CENTRE FOR THE STUDY OF CO-OPERATIVES	55

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

WOULD LIKE TO THANK ALL THOSE who agreed to participate in this research project and to share their experience of a resilient and innovative community, in particular Karla Hardcastle of Northlands College, who was enormously helpful in facilitating the research and assisting with introductions, meeting space, and logistics.

We would also like to acknowledge the following for their contributions to this publication: Mitch Diamantopoulos and Lori Blondeau, research interns; Lou Hammond Ketilson, principal investigator, Linking, Learning, Leveraging: Social Enterprises, Knowledgeable Economies, and Sustainable Communities; Len Usiskin, community co-director, Social Economy, CUISR; and Louise Clarke and Bill Holden, co-directors, CUISR.

#### ABSTRACT

T IS IMPORTANT TO UNDERSTAND the similarities, differences, and contributions of the social economy in urban, rural, and northern contexts so that communities across Saskatchewan can take full advantage of the social economy's unique ability to address critical economic, social, and cultural issues. However, because development is often framed as either urban or rural, there remains too little understanding of the social economy — including co-operatives, mutuals, not-for-profits, and voluntary sector organizations associated with alternative development models, people before profits, and democratic participation — in the northern context. This case study on the social economy in the northern Saskatchewan community of La Ronge has three key objectives: to identify social economy actors in La Ronge; to document the economic, social, and cultural contributions of the social economy to the community; and to highlight the opportunities and challenges facing the social economy in La Ronge. Data was collected from secondary sources, direct observation, and twelve face-to-face, semi-structured interviews with key participants from leading social economy organizations in La Ronge.

This study found that the social economy in La Ronge has made significant contributions to the economic, social, and cultural health of the community by mitigating the effects of economic leakage, skills shortages, as well as race, class, and gender divisions. The community has achieved this through individual organizational action or through the development of partnerships with other social economy organizations and/or the public and private sectors. Nevertheless, social economy organizations in La Ronge face a number of challenges that frustrate their efforts to do more, including administrative and jurisdictional boundaries; poor communication between or among organizations; a misunderstanding of the social economy among politicians, policy-makers, and the public; and a lack of financial and human resources. Despite these challenges, the social economy in La Ronge has been, and continues to be, a source of community resilience and innovation in a community faced with both incredible opportunities and hardships. Social economy organizations survive because of their relevance to the community and their capacity to meet real economic, social, and cultural needs.

#### Introduction

THIS CASE STUDY is a survey of the social economy in the northern community of La Ronge, Saskatchewan. The first objective of this research project is to identify social economy actors in La Ronge, including co-operatives, mutuals, not-for-profits, and voluntary sector organizations associated with alternative development models, people before profits, and democratic participation. It is important to compare and understand the similarities and differences among social economy actors in northern Saskatchewan and their urban and rural counterparts. The second objective is to document the social economy's social, economic, and cultural contributions to the community. A closer examination of the social economy in particular will render a more accurate picture of the economic and social situation in La Ronge. Traditional development indicators such as income and educational attainment statistics may distort assessments of the economic and social health of local communities. Third, this study set out to highlight the opportunities and challenges facing the social economy in La Ronge, which may face opportunities and challenges that existing academic literature does not capture or address. Furthermore, it is important to identify the successes and challenges of the social economy that transcend northern, rural, and urban contexts. Some successes and challenges for the social economy may have gone unnoticed within the policy and administrative silos that tend to group development into northern, rural, and urban components.

This case study was conducted as part of an internship with the Community-University Institute for Social Research, University of Saskatchewan. Research was completed in two phases, the first during the summer of 2006. Researchers travelled to the community of La Ronge and stayed for four days, collecting data through semi-structured interviews with key participants from leading social economy organizations in the area. In August 2006, a series of unexpected personal circumstances prevented research interns from completing the project. Work on the project resumed in June 2008 with the hiring of a new research intern

working with the same principal investigator (Dr. Isobel M. Findlay). In August of that year, the researcher visited La Ronge and conducted updated interviews with a number of participants to ensure that interview data was current and accurate.

Potential participants were given a brief introduction explaining the purpose and procedure of the project, after which they were able to agree or not agree to participate in the study (Appendix A). This study was approved on ethical grounds by the University of Saskatchewan Behavioural Sciences Research Ethics Board. Interview participants were asked to review the Interview Consent Form and invited to ask any questions that they might have regarding the purpose of the project and its research procedure (Appendix B). A signed consent form was obtained from each participant at the beginning of each interview.

In total, researchers conducted twelve face-to-face, semi-structured interviews. All research participants were involved with the social economy in some capacity, including organizational managers, employees, board members, and volunteers. Researchers prepared an interview guide that was modified to fit the specific position of each interviewee (Appendix C). Participants selected the interview locations, with most interviews taking place on the site of the participants' respective organizations. This allowed for some direct observation on the part of the researchers, who, for instance, were present during a Northern Entertainment Co-operative board meeting. Participants also provided researchers with secondary sources of data such as research reports.

The face-to-face interviews were audio recorded and subsequently transcribed. Participants were provided an opportunity to review their transcripts to ensure it accurately reflected the contents and meaning of what they had intended. Participants were also provided with a copy of their transcripts and were asked to add, alter, and/or delete any part of the transcript they wanted to, after which they signed a transcript release form, indicating that it was approved and able to be used as data for the research project.

#### Organization of the Report

This report is organized into five sections. First, we provide a brief introduction to the community of La Ronge, including an overview of its core administrative components as well as its demographic, social, and economic characteristics. The second part of this report further details the historical, social, and economic context of La Ronge and identifies a number of key opportunities and challenges currently facing the community. Issues such as

isolation, globalization, economic development, housing, education, training, and race and gender relations affect the community in crucial ways. The next section documents how social economy actors in La Ronge are responding to the key issues identified in part two. Social economy organizations in La Ronge play important roles in the economic, social, and cultural well-being of the community. The social economy has been a key source of local involvement and innovation in the development of programs and strategies aimed at coping with complex and difficult issues. The fourth part describes the ways in which social economy groups and organizations collaborate with one another to better serve their clients and members and to use resources more effectively. In the last section, we identify and discuss a number of challenges that often frustrate or prevent social economy actors from doing more.

#### The Community of La Ronge

For the purposes of this study, the community of La Ronge is comprised of three smaller communities: the Town of La Ronge; the Northern Village of Air Ronge; and the Lac La Ronge Indian Band (LLRIB) lands, including the Far Reserve and the Kitsaki Reserve. The broader community will be referred to as La Ronge for the remainder of this report, while the specific administrative community of La Ronge will be referred to as the Town of La Ronge. Each community is a distinct legal jurisdiction with its own local administration, elected leadership, services and programs, and relationships with both the federal and the provincial governments. With a population of 2,725, the Town of La Ronge is the largest community in northern Saskatchewan (StatCan 2007d). As a major service centre for the North, La Ronge is home to the La Ronge Health Care Centre, a public library, one elementary school, one high school, and several postsecondary education institutions.

Somewhat smaller in population, with 1,032 people, the Northern Village of Air Ronge (Air Ronge) is located two kilometres south of the Town of La Ronge (StatCan 2007a). Air Ronge has several businesses, service centres, and institutions, including one elementary school. Residents have access to a number of services located in the Town of La Ronge, including health services and fire and police protection services.

The LLRIB is the largest First Nation in Saskatchewan, with over 8,300 members (Lac La Ronge Indian Band 2009). LLRIB has six reserve communities with eighteen separate reserve lands stretching from central to northern Saskatchewan. Proud of their Cree heritage, members practise the dominant language, Woodland Cree. The La Ronge reserve community,

comprised of the Far and Kitsaki Reserves, has a combined population of more than 2,200 people (StatCan 2007b, 2007c). The central LLRIB office is located in the La Ronge reserve community and administers band services and programs in education, employment, social services, health services, housing, and economic development.

Unlike many small communities in Saskatchewan, La Ronge has a young and growing population, due mainly to the demographics of the large Aboriginal community in northern Saskatchewan. In total, La Ronge has a population of 6,000 residents. In comparison to Saskatchewan's overall demographic profile, La Ronge has a high Aboriginal population, with more than 75 percent of its residents being of Aboriginal ancestry, either First Nation or Métis (StatCan 2007a, 2007b, 2007c, 2007d). The community's Aboriginal population had a median age of 25.4 years and a growth rate of 14.4 percent between 2001 and 2006 (StatCan 2007a, 2007b, 2007c, 2007d). In comparison, the median age for Saskatchewan is 38.7 years with a growth rate of -1.1 percent between 2001 and 2006 (StatCan 2007a).

Several key economic sectors in northern Saskatchewan create significant economic activity in the community of La Ronge. The mining, exploration, and oil and gas sectors have created a great deal of economic activity throughout the region. With high market prices and high demand for minerals such as uranium and gold, the mining and exploration sector in northern Saskatchewan has the potential to employ more than 2,500 long-term workers for years to come (Northlands College et al. 2009). As the second largest producer of oil and the third largest producer of natural gas in Canada, there is a considerable need for labourers in Saskatchewan's oil and gas industry (Northlands College et al. 2009). Meanwhile, the commercial services sector, including business services, transportation services, and tourism, is a significant economic driver in the North, employing nearly one-third of the labour force in northern Saskatchewan (Northlands College et al. 2009). And the demand for construction workers increases as the need for residential housing and commercial construction rises (Northlands College et al. 2009). Finally, the public and noncommercial services sector is the largest sector in northern Saskatchewan, employing nearly one-half of the northern labour force (Northlands College et al. 2009). This sector provides important health and social services and is comprised of provincial, federal, and band institutions and employees.

The traditional economy plays an important role in economic development in the North and of Aboriginal communities in particular. For instance, the Northern Saskatchewan Trappers Association Co-operative Inc. (NSTAC), a nonprofit co-operative that represents more than twenty-four hundred trappers living in northern Saskatchewan, has a total of

eighty fur blocks, each of which has about fifty-five trap lines (Pattison and Findlay 2010). In addition to the economic benefits of the fur trade, the NSTAC provides cultural, educational, and social benefits for trappers, their families, and communities. And Kitsaki Management Limited Partnership — the business arm of the LLRIB — uses traditional Aboriginal knowledge to ensure the sustainable use of natural resources in its business activities and to achieve sustainable, long-term economic development (McKay 2004; Pattison and Findlay 2010).

While the forestry sector has traditionally been a major employer in northern Saskatchewan, it has been adversely affected by a number of factors, including a strong Canadian dollar, a weak US housing market, an increase in international competition, and less demand for paper products (Northlands College et al. 2009). As a result, exports continue to decline.

Although distinct in many ways, the three communities of La Ronge are inextricably linked to one another. They share a common history and geographic area and have worked and played alongside one another for decades. Changes in economic, social, environmental, and political conditions and circumstances affect all three communities, and a collaborative and integrated approach is often required to work through the challenges and opportunities associated with such changes.

#### Current Situation: Opportunities and Challenges

This section aims to develop a more detailed description of La Ronge. By drawing upon, and bringing together, historical and current literature and interview data, researchers identified a number of opportunities and challenges facing La Ronge today. The first two parts assess how La Ronge's isolation and the forces of globalization impact the community. The next part discusses the historical legacy of the creation and subsequent abolition of the Department of Northern Saskatchewan (DNS). The fourth part examines the ways in which the transient nature of employees in La Ronge has shaped the community. And the last three issues address the shortage of skilled labour, a precarious housing crisis, and race, class, and gender divisions.

#### Isolation

The geography of the La Ronge area is both its greatest asset and its greatest liability. Located on the scenic shores of Lac La Ronge, the community is in Canadian Shield territory surrounded by coniferous forests, rocky outcrops, and lakes — a strikingly beautiful

setting more akin to a stereotype of northern Ontario than of Saskatchewan. To some extent, this rugged yet beautiful terrain has shaped La Ronge and its development in a unique way. Situated two and a half hours north of Prince Albert, its location and natural surroundings make it both a gateway to the North and an endpoint for many.

As a gateway, La Ronge has provided access to the rest of northern Saskatchewan for many decades. The completion of a gravel road to the community and the establishment of an aircraft re-fuelling point in the 1930s and 1940s made it a destination for those wanting to explore the region's seemingly endless natural resources (Saskatchewan Northern Affairs (SNA) 2002). The North became a destination for those searching for business opportunities or employment in gold mining, freighting, commercial fishing, forestry, and fur (SNA 2002). The position of La Ronge as a gateway to the North intensified throughout the 1970s with the paving of the highway from Prince Albert, the establishment and expansion of DNS, and the development of uranium mining and processing in northern Saskatchewan (SNA 2002). Today, La Ronge continues to be the hub for government service providers for residents of smaller, more remote communities accessible only by air or seasonal road; for mining companies and their employees headed up to northern worksites; and for the more adventurous tourists seeking remote fishing, camping, and trekking destinations.

At the same time, La Ronge is the last significant economic, distribution, service, or tourist centre on the road north. In this sense, it is an endpoint for those coming from both the North as well as the south. For example, it serves as a main base for several educational institutions and health care services, including Northlands College, the Northern Teacher Education Program, the Northern Professional Access College, and the only hospital and long-term care facility in the Mamawetan Health District, which covers most of northeastern Saskatchewan.

While its location may have some advantages, La Ronge's isolation also makes it less desirable for some kinds of economic investment. For example, the probable location of a fish plant for fish co-operatives, many of which are located in northern Saskatchewan, is Prince Albert. As one co-operative development officer explained:

P.A. would be the [ideal] location because it's the focus of the roads and everybody can get to it.... If it was in La Ronge and you're coming from Cumberland House, you're running six hours plus to La Ronge.... And with Prince Albert as the location, some of the Alberta people want to sign on as well.

La Ronge's isolation may also exacerbate problems related to a lack of locally available services and support networks, even though it is the main business and service hub for northern communities. One participant, for example, explained that individuals with learning disabilities in La Ronge must move away from their family, friends, and community to Prince Albert if they want to upgrade their education. This presents a serious challenge as most people require financial, social, and emotional support to succeed in school.

Some participants also noted a lack of recreational activities in La Ronge, especially for local youth. For several participants, this was particularly concerning. One felt that the lack of extracurricular activities for young people in La Ronge was contributing to youth crime:

Crime among the young people is on the increase.... The biggest crime I see now with the youth is vandalism for the sake of vandalism and graffiti.... I've heard comments from people saying that they're not comfortable here anymore and they're thinking about leaving.... It doesn't seem like there's any direction or that they know what to do or how to do it.

Even though Prince Albert has many recreational and youth activities, it is too far for regular travel for most residents.

#### Globalization

Despite its isolation, or perhaps because of it, La Ronge is a community in transition and is susceptible to the ebb and flow of the forces of globalization. First, two of the major employers, Areva and Cameco, are the largest uranium mining companies in the world. There is also much discussion in the community about kimberlite exploration. As a result, La Ronge's economy is susceptible to the boom-bust cycle of a resource-based economy.

Second, the restructuring of the welfare state in the 1980s and 1990s significantly affected the community. In 1983, the Progressive Conservative government abolished DNS, the department responsible for delivering most provincial government programs in northern Saskatchewan. Officials transferred DNS programs back to traditional line departments and placed a strong emphasis on expanding the role of private-sector organizations. Hundreds of government jobs based in La Ronge disappeared or were transferred to more central locations, particularly Regina. This restructuring, coupled with technological developments such as the Internet, teleconference, and satellite technologies, made it possible to deliver and administer services to northern communities from Regina-based offices.

Third, improvements in transportation and communication have brought both challenges and opportunities to the community. Improvements in the highway to Prince Albert make La Ronge even more feasible as a gateway to the North, as goods can be trucked in and tourists can travel with greater certainty and ease. Technological advancements have also made it possible for La Ronge residents to complete postsecondary courses via the Internet and teleconference. At the same time, improvements in transportation and communication make it easier for residents to drive south and shop at big-box stores such as Wal-Mart or Canadian Tire, which results in economic leakage to larger centres. Finally, as people increasingly use the Internet to obtain information, La Ronge risks losing many of its youth to larger cities.

#### The Culture of Big Government and a Legacy of Dependency

In 1972, the newly elected NDP government led by Alan Blakeney created the Department of Northern Saskatchewan to increase the level of government services and programs available to northerners. The DNS budget grew from \$21 million in 1972–73 to \$103 million in 1982–83 (SNA 2002). Other provincial agencies, such as the Department of Highways and Justice, also invested heavily in northern Saskatchewan (SNA 2002). Over a period of ten years, major investments were made in virtually all areas of life for residents of northern Saskatchewan — in infrastructure, in social and economic matters, and in uranium development (SNA 2002).

Although abolished in 1983, DNS had a profound impact on La Ronge and this legacy is apparent today. One long-time resident and government employee explained:

[La Ronge] has been, and still is, considered by some as the "Regina of the North" because it was a government town for so many years. It was a government within a government for all intents and purposes. Every line department that existed in Regina was replicated within DNS, so that created La Ronge as you see it today. It was set up as a government town.... [DNS] spent hundreds of millions of dollars every year. It set up a huge infrastructure here and it provided a major source of employment.... It's what set up this town. There were a thousand government employees just in the town of La Ronge. That's scaled down significantly now to maybe a hundred.

The large provincial government presence helped make La Ronge the hub and unofficial "capital" of the North. This provides some confidence in the future as La Ronge has much of the necessary infrastructure to be the central destination for northern development.

To some extent, however, there exists a legacy of dependence on government work, services, and programs. Although the level of services and programs has been scaled back dramatically, there is still a strong expectation that government will provide the necessary resources and supports. When asked whether the public viewed his organization as a government institution more than a financial institution, one economic development officer responded:

Absolutely. Since I took over loans, I get a lot of calls about where people can find grants. They don't want to borrow money, but they would like some free money because years ago there was lots of money out there.

While discussing the community's involvement and support for economic development policies, one participant stated:

You don't see a whole lot [of support] from the community of La Ronge [for] forestry or mining exploration policies [and] those kinds of larger issues because we've always been taken care of by the provincial agencies that are here. Everybody expects them to take care of us.

Individual and community dependence on government resources and programs has, at least in part, prevented local residents from participating in the development of their own community.

#### Skills Shortage and a Transient Population

Traditionally, La Ronge has had a more transient population than many small communities. This is due, in part, to a shortage of skilled labour in the local population. Fifty-eight percent of northern Saskatchewan residents have less than a high-school diploma, compared to 30 percent of people in the rest of the province (Northlands et al. 2009). Similarly, while 42 percent of Saskatchewan residents have postsecondary qualifications from a college or a university, or a trade, only 26 percent of those in the province's north have the same (Northlands et al. 2009). Although northern Saskatchewan has a relatively young population, its labour force participation rate is only 50 percent and unemployment rates hover around 20 percent (Northlands et al. 2009). Many northern communities offer limited opportunities to gain work experience outside the traditional economy. Local residents often do not have the educational requirements, skill level, or experience required by employers in northern

Saskatchewan and cannot gain employment without innovative interventions and accommodations such as those offered by the Northern Saskatchewan Trappers Association Co-operative (Pattison and Findlay 2010), La Ronge Hotel and Suites (Conference Board of Canada 2002), or Michelin's partnerships with Aboriginal peoples in Nova Scotia (Sloan and Oliver 2009).

In addition, government workers, particularly those who are young and starting their careers, are often from the south and take a position in northern Saskatchewan to gain experience, with the hope of transferring to a posting in the south. One participant explained:

At the professional level ... you are parachuted in, especially in government. There is a tendency up here for young people, especially if they just graduated or are early to mid-twenties, to come and pad their resumé. There's no real intention of staying.

According to one participant, sometimes the job itself, as in the case of RCMP officers or school teachers, requires people to move in and out of the community:

A lot of the jobs themselves are transient, not just the people. If you get transferred here, you get transferred away from here. Some of them stay but most leave. They get experience and they go. That's life in the North.

A strong mining sector in northern Saskatchewan has also contributed to a transient population, as skilled workers and tradespeople are often imported from the south as well as other provinces. In some cases, these workers have few connections to the community; many fly into La Ronge on a two-week basis, making them less likely to establish roots and stay long term.

Several participants suggested that those who do not foresee staying in La Ronge are less likely to take part in local events, voluntary activities, or community organizations. One person felt that the community's population is more stable and sedentary now, but noted that the impact of a transient population lingers:

The problem is that we still have the mentality of a transient community. People often don't get involved and we don't have that small-town Saskatchewan feel. It's kind of a continuation of that transient lifestyle that people have, even though it is more stable now.

At the same time, one participant remarked, some local residents are reluctant to meet newcomers: "I remember people saying that they didn't think those people were going to be here for very long, so they didn't really want to bother to get to know them because you would have invested all this time in these people and then they would be gone." Together, the transient nature of the community and the perception that newcomers will not stay make it difficult to engage new residents in community activities. Active community members, therefore, tend to be those with deep roots in the community and with a vested interest in making the community a better place to live.

#### Housing Crisis

There is a serious housing crisis in La Ronge. For many residents, it is difficult to find affordable, suitable, and safe housing. According to one participant, "We're verging on slum area stuff in some of the housing.... The housing shortage is just so incredibly bad here." There are several factors that contribute to this situation. First, there are few affordable entry-level ownership opportunities for first-time buyers in the market, particularly for low-income individuals or families. Like many Saskatchewan communities in recent years, La Ronge has experienced significant increases in property values and rental prices. As Table 1 indicates, the median monthly payments for rented and owned dwellings in the towns of both La Ronge and Air Ronge were higher than the Saskatchewan median. The high cost of housing is due partly to the influx of highly skilled, well-paid workers into the community.

Table 1: Median monthly payments for rented and owner-occupied dwellings, 2006

Community	Median monthly payments for rented dwellings	Median monthly payments for owner-occupied dwellings
Saskatchewan	\$568	\$614
La Ronge	\$659	\$792
Air Ronge	\$792	\$899
(Source: Statistics (	Canada 2007a, 2007c)	

Second, the housing shortage is accentuated by the housing situation endemic to onreserve housing across Canada. Shortages, overcrowding, and inadequate housing standards have been a long-standing problem on many First Nation reserves across the country. In a report for NorthSask Special Needs Housing, Employment, Recreation Inc., Rozon (2006) estimated that there were between three hundred and six hundred applications for new housing on LLRIB lands. This report concluded that the demand for housing on-reserve far exceeded the number of dwellings available to on-reserve residents.

Third, there is a shortage of affordable and clean rental units in La Ronge. Those who cannot afford the market price for rental dwellings often have no choice but to live in dilapidated, slum-like units, or outside the community. An employee of Northlands College described the rental situation facing many students coming to study in La Ronge:

[The rental units] are like slums.... Northlands and NORTEP have apartments that are subsidized through us, but they are usually full. [The students] couldn't afford to pay market value because their bands only give them a limited living allowance each month. If you have to pay for all your utilities and \$600 or \$700 rent, there is no money left for food or clothes. And most of these people are adult learners and are coming with kids.

For people receiving social assistance, average market rent payments exceed, and sometimes even double, monthly shelter allowances (Rozon 2006).

Finally, although some nonmarket housing is available in La Ronge, more is needed to meet existing demand. In 2006, the La Ronge Regional Housing Authority had one hundred social housing units available; however, vacancy rates are low and waiting lists are long (Rozon 2006). Priority is given to families, making it difficult for single people to secure social housing, and few units are designed to accommodate people with disabilities (Rozon 2006). One participant identified the lack of a local group home for people with disabilities as a significant obstacle for some of his clients:

[A] lot of the people we work with would do well in employment if they lived in a group home. We don't have a single group home in northern Saskatchewan for adults with disabilities. Adults with disabilities are living with families and, in some cases, there are ten or more people living in a house.... I have probably five or ten individuals who would do well if they had some place to go to at night, a bed to sleep in, their own room, and someone to wake them up in the morning, make sure that they have breakfast, take their medication, get them to work, get them home after work, and get them some supper.... If you opened a group home with eight beds in [La Ronge], it would be full in no time.

For some residents with low-incomes, physical and/or cognitive disabilities, and mental illness or addictions issues, the lack of affordable, safe, and suitable housing in La Ronge has resulted in these individuals having no permanent home at all. In 2006, it was estimated that 214 people with a cognitive and/or a physical disability in the Lac La Ronge area were considered homeless, with most individuals staying with family and friends for short periods of time (Rozon 2006). The community also has an urgent need for more emergency shelter, second-stage housing, and supported housing (Rozon 2006).

#### Race, Class, and Gender Divisions

More than half of La Ronge's population is of Aboriginal ancestry, and Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people interact with one another on many levels. The children go to school and play sports together while their parents work with one another. One participant noted, "If you walk downtown, you see people from lots of different backgrounds shopping in the same stores and walking down the same streets." Another participant commented, "One of the nice things about La Ronge ... is that a lot of the racist issues that I've experienced in the south aren't as obvious here.... People are not so much separated by race lines as they are by class and economics." Both the historical experience of living and working together and the integration of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal youth are promising signs of positive race relations for the future.

Currently, however, there remain significant race, class, and gender divisions within the community. Despite some level of integration among Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal residents, a closer look at the physical separation between on-reserve and off-reserve, as well as class divisions, reveals strong racial undercurrents. The jurisdictional boundaries physically separate both LLRIB reserves from La Ronge and Air Ronge. As one participant explains, this physical and jurisdictional separation sometimes has surprising and alarming consequences for the level of interaction between on-reserve and off-reserve residents:

I employed a summer staff person who was supposed to take posters on-reserve. She didn't do it. I found these posters and asked, "You didn't take them? How come you didn't take them?" She responded, "I've never been out there before and I didn't feel comfortable." This person has lived here all her life and she had never gone there.... That was a real shock to me because you think, surely, as a teenager you would be intrigued or adventurous. I'm not saying that's a majority of people, but I'm surprised.

The experience of a local childcare co-operative also illustrates how class and racial divisions impact the kinds of services used by Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people in La Ronge. According to staff at the La Ronge Childcare Co-op, almost all of their members are Aboriginal, even though membership in the co-operative is open to everyone in the community regardless of race or cultural heritage. When asked about the low number of non-Aboriginal clients at the co-op, one participant stated, "White people take their kids to babysitters and Aboriginal people go to the daycare."

Racial divisions appear to cut across gender lines as well. One economic development officer noted that women, particularly those who are Aboriginal, are less likely than men to apply for business loans:

A very small portion of [borrowers] are women, about 25 percent or less.... The percentage of Aboriginal women coming in is much less than 25 percent. For men, it is about fifty-fifty Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal.... I don't think [women] are encouraged to start businesses. That's the feedback we got back from our [peer lending] group. It is like the man is supposed to take care of you ... and that you are taking a job away from a man. Some of the attitudes are still very much like that.

One female participant and long-time community member expressed her frustration with the historically male-dominated Air Ronge Village Council:

I'm thinking about running for village council next year. There isn't a single woman on Air Ronge Village Council, and supposedly there has only been one or two in the last decade or two. I'm hoping to go in and shake things up a bit if I get elected. I think they need more planning in a more comprehensive way.

Demographic diversity in representative and leadership structures is part of an equitable and fair society and is a key feature of healthy democratic institutions and communities. Without the participation of key groups and stakeholders in political, business, and community institutions, the interests, viewpoints, and perspectives of underrepresented groups will not be adequately considered, which in turn will compromise the legitimacy of these institutions.

In summary, all three La Ronge communities are deeply affected by the opportunities and challenges before them. La Ronge is susceptible to the ebb and flow of the forces of

globalization, which brings with it both the promises and perils of technological advances, easier transportation, and the global economy. As a hub of government services, programs, and work, the community has reaped the benefits of infrastructure development, but has also suffered a legacy of dependence on government supports and investment. While the in-migration of highly skilled, well-paid labourers to the community has contributed to a strong housing market, many local residents find themselves unable to find affordable, safe housing for themselves or their families. Underlying many of these issues are race, class, and gender divisions, which make it more difficult for some individuals and groups to cope with the challenges before them.

The next section looks at the different ways in which the social economy is responding to many of the issues identified above.

#### RESPONSES FROM THE SOCIAL ECONOMY

This section identifies and examines the innovative ways in which social economy organizations have approached some of the challenges facing La Ronge today. The first part discusses how a number of community-based and nonprofit organizations have set out to reduce the level of economic leakage from La Ronge and to promote local businesses. The second details several social economy organizations that individuals and businesses can draw upon to start or develop their organizations. The third shows how the social economy plays a key role in promoting and enhancing educational and skill development opportunities, not only for those in the La Ronge area, but for northerners in general. The fourth part examines how social economy organizations in La Ronge are committed to improving the quality of life of residents through the provision of health, safety, and recreational services. The fifth and sixth parts look at how social economy organizations preserve and support the re-learning of traditional Aboriginal knowledge and cultural practices and promote the values of diversity and inclusion.

#### Economic Leakage

Together, La Ronge's geographic isolation and improvements to transportation infrastructure contribute to economic leakage to the larger, more urban centres in the south. By promoting local businesses, re-investing profits into the community, and developing strategies to keep resources in the local economy, the La Ronge Chamber of Commerce (the Chamber), the co-op, Conexus Credit Union, and a number of local nonprofits play important roles in reducing the level of economic leakage from the community.

Re-established in 2003, the Chamber promotes trade and commerce in the community and provides a unified voice for local businesses. Several community organizations and local businesses were involved in the creation of the new Chamber, including the co-op, the local branch of Conexus Credit Union, and Visions North Community Futures Development Corporation (CFDC). Among the first events organized by the Chamber was a "shop locally" campaign aimed at increasing the visibility of local businesses and encouraging residents to buy from local establishments. According to several participants, the new Chamber of Commerce was welcomed as a positive development for the local economy and a much-needed association to promote business development within the community.

Co-operatives have played, and continue to play, important roles in meeting the needs of local residents by ensuring fair prices for members and other consumers and reducing economic leakage to the south. Historically, the La Ronge Co-op was viewed as an alternative to the mainstream Northern Store, better known by its more popular name, the Hudson's Bay Company. And the credit union also brought needed financial competition to the community.

It could be argued that the traditional co-operative sector — the co-op and Conexus Credit Union — are no longer responding to monopolistic pressures but rather, play an important role in the community by reducing the level of economic leakage. For example, the large and newly upgraded co-op provides members with a greater selection of goods, reducing the need to shop in Prince Albert or Saskatoon. One resident stated, "I'm excited for us because it's a big deal to have such an amazing store in such a small community, especially a northern community." The co-operative model also ensures that profits remain in the community. The co-op re-invests profits back into the organization, distributes dividends to members, and provides financial support to a number of local organizations, events, and ini-

tiatives. Co-ops have a keen interest in investing in their communities because their success as businesses depends on the economic and social health of their members and communities.

Finally, as part of their goal to reduce economic leakage from the community, Visions North CFDC developed a strategy in 2002 to improve the leisure offerings in La Ronge. With the closure of the last movie theatre in 1985, Visions North helped establish the Northern Entertainment Co-op (NEC), which aimed to organize and help raise funds for a new theatre and performing arts complex in the community. A business development grant from the Government of Saskatchewan provided funds for NEC to complete a feasibility study. According to Rosten Bergsma Business Solutions (2006), 97 percent of those surveyed were in favour of establishing a locally owned and operated theatre complex. In the end, it was determined that a basic theatre with one movie screen located on co-op land was a viable business venture.

During the first round of interviews in 2006, several interviewees demonstrated optimism and excitement about the prospect of establishing a theatre in La Ronge. One participant responded, "Any development like that just screams out 'You don't have to go south. You have stuff here." Regrettably, NEC was struck from the co-op registrar because it was unable to afford a professional financial audit, a requirement of the provincial government as a condition of receiving the business development grant.

#### **Business and Organizational Development**

Social economy organizations in La Ronge contribute to the creation and strengthening of local businesses and nonprofit organizations in many ways. First, there are a number of financial institutions and funds to which individuals or groups may apply for business financing. For traditional or mainstream businesses, financing is available from Conexus Credit Union, Visions North CFDC, and several government sources. Aboriginal individuals and businesses may also apply for financing or grants from several sources, including Aboriginal Business Canada, Visions North CFDC, and the Aboriginal Business Development Fund. For individuals or groups that do not meet traditional or mainstream lending criteria, business loans may be obtained from Visions North CFDC and the Northern Development Fund. The latter are particularly important for nonprofit or community-based organizations whose business models may not include significant, if any, profit margins.

Next, social economy organizations facilitate organizational development by providing cost-effective services and products to other organizations. The Keewatin Career Development Centre (KCDC), for example, is a nonprofit umbrella organization for career service agencies in northern Saskatchewan, including school divisions, tribal councils, development corporations, and postsecondary institutions, for which it provides support and technological products and training. Although private-sector businesses may purchase its services, KCDC's main clientele are nonprofits and community-based organizations. As a nonprofit, KCDC provides products and services to its clients at more affordable rates than would be available from the private sector. One employee explains:

There is a real place for ... nonprofit organizations in community development and in specific areas like technology.... Our primary clientele are community schools and other nonprofits, so we can deal nonprofit to nonprofit. ... It is important for these organizations that don't have as much money.... There is room and a real need for the nonprofit sector to be providing this kind of service.

The provision of KCDC's services on a nonprofit basis allows its clients to better meet, or expand, their organizational objectives.

Finally, Visions North CFDC offers new and existing business owners the opportunity to work with an experienced businessperson through the Business Mentorship Program (BMP). One Visions North CFDC employee explained that training is a critical step to successful business ownership:

Some [people] don't think they have the skills to run their own businesses.... The emphasis should be on training. You can head off the problems before they become big problems. One of the key areas that I see deficient in some [business] start-ups is bookkeeping. It is so critical to the success of your business.... I always push clients to get as much education and training as possible.

To date, four experienced local entrepreneurs have been trained as mentors for the BMP. Visions North CFDC has notified other local agencies about the BMP and the fact that the program is available to both potential and existing business owners.

#### **Education and Skill Development**

Social economy organizations in La Ronge provide programs and services to enhance educational, training, and employment opportunities for northerners. Northlands College, KCDC, and the Gary Tinker Federation for the Disabled Inc. (GTF) clearly demonstrate the important contributions made by social economy actors in this area.

Northlands College is a postsecondary institution serving northern communities with three different campus locations in addition to online services and programs available through the Saskatchewan Communications Network. Directed by a nine-member board of directors, all of whom are northern residents, the college develops training programs based on the needs of various stakeholders, including communities, Aboriginal agencies, economic development corporations, government, and industry. Northlands College offers a diverse array of programs ranging from basic literacy programs, Radiation Environment Technician training, to Continued Care Assistant training, as well as online university courses from the University of Saskatchewan, the University of Regina, and the University of the Arctic. Northlands College also offers students critical support services, such as tutoring, career counselling, and career development guidance.

Over the past two decades, Northlands College has trained thousands of northerners who then went on to find employment in the region. Some students build on their existing skills and knowledge base. For example, when asked whether their recent experience at Northlands College affected their work at the La Ronge Childcare Co-op, two long-term staff members noted, "Yeah, the way you look at kids. You try and see what the problem is. It's not the child; it's something they have.... [The course] teaches you how to design a room for each age level."

The Gary Tinker Federation has also made significant contributions to the education, training, and employment of northerners by organizing workshops, creating employment opportunities, and providing employment counselling services for people with cognitive and/or physical disabilities. Funded by both the provincial and federal governments (Saskatchewan Postsecondary Education and Skills Training — Northern Branch, the Employment Assistance for People with Disabilities, Human Resources and Skill Development Canada, and Career and Employment Services), GTF creates contracts with private, public, and cooperative organizations to employ its members. Importantly, GTF aims to create interesting and meaningful employment:

The ultimate goal is full-time, long-term, and meaningful employment. Not just pushing a broom or picking up garbage. We want the person to remain long term. Our six-month contribution allows the employer to get an understanding of what kind of productivity the individual is capable of.

GTF goes beyond finding jobs for its members; it creates employment opportunities "by re-imagining, by contracting, by employer engagement, by re-fashioning, or job carving." As a small, member-run nonprofit organization, GTF is able to act quickly and creatively and be flexible in its approach to serving its members. One participant noted that because all board members have some sort of disability, GTF is governed by people with a deep sense of compassion and understanding towards members.

#### Health and Safety

Some social economy organizations in La Ronge have come together to improve the health and safety of its residents and visitors. Conexus Credit Union donated \$15,000 to the Keewatin Onitonikewuk Search and Rescue Inc. (KOSAR), a local nonprofit serving La Ronge and other northern communities. With this sponsorship, KOSAR purchased a trailer to provide a base for its team members. While KOSAR provides critical search and rescue services to hunters, hikers, fishers, and other outdoor enthusiasts, its presence also provides a compelling reason for local residents and visitors to choose La Ronge as their outdoor adventure destination.

#### Recreation

There have been formidable efforts within the social economy to create and enhance arts and entertainment options for local residents. Despite the disappointing result of NEC's efforts, the drive to establish and develop local arts and entertainment activities remains strong. The hope and expectation of provincial funding to renovate and improve Churchill High School, located in the Town of La Ronge, brought together several community members and groups to discuss opportunities to incorporate art and entertainment facilities into the renovation plans. Individuals from the La Ronge Town Council, Churchill High School, the arts council, and members of the former NEC have informally discussed the possibility of partnering with one another to build a swimming pool, a theatre and per-

forming arts complex, a dance studio, a recording studio, and a new public library in the school, many of which would be accessible to the public outside of school hours. One former NEC member noted: "This is a dream list, but it is the fact that people are interested in having the arts that is a good sign." These efforts demonstrate a deep commitment among local residents and community groups to improve the quality of life for individuals and families in La Ronge.

#### Cultural Sustainability

Several social economy organizations work to promote the arts and Aboriginal culture and language in a variety of ways. The La Ronge Arts Council, for example, works towards creating demand for different forms of arts and entertainment from literature and storytelling to the blues and classical music. As one member of the council explained, their organization fills a gap that neither the public nor the private sectors have filled:

When you live in a community that's a little more isolated, you have to make things happen. There is no Centennial Auditorium [now TCU Place in Saskatoon] to bring in things. There is no free enterprise [that is] creating possibilities. There are no university music programs that have spinoffs. So you have to try and work to make things happen.

In 2006, for instance, the arts council promoted the work of a classical music composer who lives in the community. School performances and public shows exposed local residents to classical music while at the same time promoting the talents of a community member. Although convincing community members to come out and support the arts can be frustrating and difficult at times, the arts council continues to actively promote local art and artists.

Aboriginal cultural preservation and dissemination can be found in the approach and work of both the Northern Saskatchewan Trappers Association Co-operative Inc. (NSTAC) and the La Ronge Hotel. Established in 1970, the NSTAC aims to address the concerns of trappers in northern Saskatchewan and is comprised of Métis and First Nations people. The NSTAC promotes and preserves Aboriginal traditions, cultures, and knowledge in meaningful and innovative ways. According to Pattison and Findlay (2010), "The practices passed on to youth preserve the cultural wisdom that sustains the welfare and spirit of Aboriginal communities" (36). The annual River Gathering Festival organized by the NSTAC, for example, includes cultural events such as canoe racing, which provides younger generations with

opportunities to make these traditions a part of their lived experience. The Justice Trapline — inspired and delivered by the NSTAC — is a program for young offenders who are selected to work and learn on a trapline instead of being institutionalized. This program aims to direct young offenders away from negative influences while learning about Aboriginal traditions and culture. Finally, the NSTAC recently started working to incorporate trapping and hunting curriculum into northern schools. One trapper explained that the students pray, participate in smudges, and speak only the Cree language when they are out on the trapline, where they use their brains and hearts and not the pencils of the classroom (Pattison and Findlay 2010). Through this program, the youth learn the value of both indigenous science and knowledge and mainstream education (Pattison and Findlay 2010).

Owned by the LLRIB, the La Ronge Hotel came up with a unique approach to hiring and training employees. The hotel seeks to develop and enhance the knowledge and skills of its employees — who may or may not have previous hotel or hospitality work experience — through the use of cultural traditions and knowledge. Management personnel use the oral culture of the Cree to train staff members, recognizing that some may have had little access to formal education. As a coaching method, storytelling has proven to be effective in guiding employees through new and unfamiliar situations (Conference Board of Canada 2002). Training videos are available in three languages — Cree, Dené, and English — and a Cree tutor is available for employees during several training activities. Furthermore, the hotel's management understands and values the traditional way of life practised by some employees, one of whom, for example, works at the hotel during the summer months and returns to her family's camp in the bush until the following summer (Conference Board of Canada 2002).

The efforts of the NSTAC and the La Ronge Hotel are more than symbolic acknowledgement of Aboriginal history and traditions. These organizations recognize that Aboriginal cultures, languages, traditions, and knowledge provide a basis for learning and understanding and the creation of meaningful opportunities (Pattison and Findlay 2010).

#### Diversity and Inclusion

By upholding and celebrating the values of diversity and inclusion, social economy organizations create a space in which all people experience a sense of belonging, safety, and trust. Employees at the La Ronge Childcare Co-op, for example, proudly refer to their organization as an "inclusion centre," a place where any child is welcome and valued, regard-

less of their life experience or background. Here, children learn to build relationships with those who are different from themselves and to respect and celebrate their differences. One staff member explained:

This is an inclusion centre. We accept all kinds of kids. We have a child in a wheelchair. We had two autistic children and some children with behavioural problems.... All the papers on every door have a sentence about inclusion.... We welcome everybody and anybody.... I have never seen it anywhere else.... so we're special.

GTF is also strongly committed to fostering an environment of support and encouragement for its members. One employee told researchers:

We don't let them go. This is not a contract; this is a commitment. They are members of the federation. They are not just our clients.... They can participate at any level they want, but they are members.... We are engaged in a lifestyle change versus life skills or a momentary contract.

These organizations advocate and promote respect and belonging for all members of the community, and create a supportive and safe environment for those who are often marginalized and misunderstood by others.

To summarize, this section identified a number of ways in which the social economy in La Ronge has responded to the challenges currently facing the community. Social economy organizations have helped strengthen the economic, social, and cultural fabric of the community in a variety of ways:

- promoting local businesses
- facilitating the development of local organizations
- enhancing educational and skills development opportunities for northerners
- ensuring the health and safety of residents and visitors alike
- developing recreational activities and facilities
- preserving and promoting art, culture, and tradition
- creating diverse and inclusive environments open to all members of the community

The following section maps the different ways in which social economy organizations work with one another and with government and private-sector organizations to better serve their clients and community.

## SYNERGIES, PARTNERSHIPS, AND COLLABORATIONS

THE ABILITY OF LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS to establish and develop working partnerships with one another is a key characteristic of communities that are capable of successfully responding to economic and social change (Community Resilience Project Team 1999). While it is important for social economy organizations to remain autonomous, flexible, and client- focussed, it is by working together that stakeholders can achieve broad community goals and successes. Researchers found several examples of successful partnerships and collaborations among social economy organizations, government institutions, and private sector organizations.

One form of collaboration is the provision of financial support from one organization to another. The Order of the Royal Purple service club, for example, donates to the Childcare Co-op on an annual basis. And before the dissolution of the NEC, the local Conexus Credit Union branch applied to its community advisory board — a decision- making body of the credit union that allocates funds to community economic development purposes — for a grant to support NEC and the construction of a local movie theatre.

Second, social economy organizations and groups have worked together to plan large, complex community projects. Although in the conceptual stages, the development of a multipurpose recreational facility at Churchill High School requires individuals, groups, and organizations to collectively and co-operatively set project objectives, strategies, and priorities. Former NEC members, the Arts Council, Churchill High School, and members of the La Ronge Town Council have discussed the potential purpose, design, and financing options for a multipurpose facility. According to one participant, the benefits of working together are clear:

The idea of this multipurpose facility and having every organization in the community having a possibility to use it may make it more feasible. The more often it's in use, the more chance we have to cover our operating costs. [This group] hope[s] to be one of those unifiers for the community and bring in other small, nonprofit organizations that have nowhere else to go. And we are hoping to get others to think that way as well.

This is an example of citizens taking an active role in community initiatives, demonstrating a strong capacity among local residents to address common concerns and develop local solutions.

Third, some social economy organizations serve many of the same individuals and/or groups, prompting organizations to work together for the benefit of their clients or members. Commenting on the relationship between GTF and KCDC, one KCDC representative explained that the two organizations work together often: "It's a pretty small community. Some of their clients access our technical services to get trained — technology is a benefit for a lot of people with disabilities." Although different in many ways, GTF and KCDC find common ground in their efforts to improve employment opportunities for northerners.

Fourth, CED organizations work together to reduce the duplication of services and to use resources more efficiently and effectively. When asked about the different sorts of partnerships in which Visions North CFDC is involved, one employee explained: "Partnership is very important up here. The cost of travel to go into these communities would be prohibitive for a lot of us, so being able to couple our dollars for training, projects, and travel is very important." In April 2008, for example, Visions North CFDC, Woodlands and Waterways Regional Development Authority, and Saskatchewan Northern Affairs worked together to plan and organize a Youth Conference. Grade eleven and twelve students from several northern communities were flown to La Ronge to attend the conference, which focussed partly on promoting existing education and employment opportunities for youth in northern Saskatchewan.

Fifth, some social economy organizations partner and collaborate with private sector enterprises in mutually beneficial ways. Areva and Cameco, for instance, often donate to local organizations such as the Childcare Co-op, and provide scholarship funds for local students, enhancing their organization's image and visibility in the community. The owner of the local Subway is a volunteer with Visions North CFDC's Business Mentorship Program. With the provincial government's six-month wage subsidy program, the Gary Tinker Foundation

is able to work with local employers, including Subway, the co-op, and the Town of La Ronge, to find employment opportunities for its members. The wage subsidy program pays for a portion of the employee's wage, while GTF members gain valuable work experience. And the hotel supports the Arts Council through the provision of free meeting spaces so members can plan events and programs.

Finally, the Northern Labour Market Committee (NLMC) is an excellent example of how multiple partnerships among social economy organizations, the public sector, and the private sector can facilitate a cohesive and organized approach to community economic development (CED). Established in 1983, the NLMC is comprised of eighty participants and includes educational, training, employment, and Aboriginal organizations (Northlands et al. 2008). Through this organization, stakeholders can collectively address economic development issues in northern Saskatchewan by sharing information, identifying challenges, and developing joint solutions. The organizations comprising the NLMC work together to set goals and develop strategies to address critical issues in the areas of health, education and training, employment, business development, and traditional economies in northern Saskatchewan. The 2009 report titled "The Northern Saskatchewan Regional Training and Assessment Report," for example, produced by Northlands College, the NLMC, and the Ministry of Advanced Education, Employment and Labour describes the recent labour market situation in northern Saskatchewan and identifies ways to bridge the needs of northern residents, educational and training institutions, and regional and local employers.

This section highlighted some of the ways in which social economy organizations in La Ronge help the community address challenges and take ownership of solutions. Despite this success, however, there is some frustration among social economy actors that stakeholders could work together more frequently, co-operatively, or effectively. The next section identifies and discusses some of the barriers that prevent social economy organizations from working together more closely.

#### CHALLENGES FACING THE SOCIAL ECONOMY

The previous sections provided several examples of how the social economy has successfully responded to some of the difficulties currently confronting La Ronge, as well as how these organizations contribute to the economic, social, and cultural well-being of the community. Still, the social economy faces a number of problems that limit its ability to do more. This section identifies three key challenges that adversely affect the ability of the social economy to address the needs of its clients and community. First, while many social economy organizations collaborate with one another, administrative and jurisdictional boundaries combined with a lack of communication prevent social economy organizations from working together more frequently and co-operatively. Second, social economy organizations are misunderstood and their contributions are not fully recognized by politicians, policy makers, and the public, frustrating the efforts of many social economy organizations. Third, financial and human resources shortages make it difficult for some social economy organizations to meet the needs of their clients or to expand their operations and services.

#### Co-operation and Collaboration

Participants identified two key factors that make it difficult for organizations to work together more frequently and co-operatively — the administrative and jurisdictional boundaries of the community and social economy organizations, and the lack of communication and collective planning among CED organizations.

#### Administrative and Jurisdictional Boundaries

La Ronge is a complex community with two municipalities and two LLRIB reserves. In addition, the relationship between the federal government and First Nations reserve

communities, and the presence of federally regulated industries such as uranium, fisheries, and airports, leads to a significant federal government presence in the community. La Ronge's central position in the North also makes it a hub of regional development for the provincial government. The plethora of administrative and jurisdictional boundaries of social economy organizations makes collaboration and co-ordination among organizations difficult.

One impact of the administrative and jurisdictional boundaries is that, although many CED organizations are located in La Ronge, most focus on northern Saskatchewan as a whole, with few CED efforts directed specifically at the community of La Ronge. As one participant explained:

We're not set up to service La Ronge; we're set up to service the North. We don't make any distinction [between La Ronge and other communities] and there's no specific initiatives directed at La Ronge per se. They tend to be broad-based, northern [and] regional initiatives.... So we don't focus specifically on the community of La Ronge.

Another participant believed that CED approaches used in smaller, more remote, and mainly Aboriginal northern communities may not be suitable for La Ronge:

La Ronge is an anomaly to the rest of the North in that we're a fifty-fifty Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal population.... There's a lot of affluence in the non-Aboriginal population and there's a lot of poverty on the reserve side. That's a difference.... La Ronge doesn't really fit in the same mould as the northern communities.

Without a focussed effort on La Ronge, its unique attributes, challenges, and opportunities will be lost in the broad and sweeping development approaches for northern Saskatchewan.

The second impact of the administrative and jurisdictional boundaries is that they contribute to a sense of competition among organizations and communities. Even though many initiatives aim to benefit La Ronge as a whole, communities often compete for resources and investment. For example, the locations of the new fire hall and tourist information booth have recently sparked tension between residents of La Ronge and Air Ronge:

People think that everything goes to La Ronge. We [La Ronge] just got a new fire hall. The Woodlands and Waterways RDA have been working on

the tourist information centre for a really long time. It had always been located in Air Ronge.... Of course La Ronge says it has to go in La Ronge and Air Ronge says that it has always been in Air Ronge. I think it is really petty because as long as the community has access to it, who cares where it goes? And if it's not located in your jurisdiction, you don't have to take care of it. But they don't see it that way. It is all about what we want for us.

When funding shortages and competition for resources become more apparent, jurisdictional battles become more intense. The CEO of a local development organization noted:

[I]t's such a disparate group of people all across the board. Everybody has their own unique slice and everybody is struggling and trying to make ends meet within their particular regions.... There's a big sense of competition.... [T]he perception from the rest of the North is that La Ronge always has and always will have everything and they have nothing. So you'll never get the regional economic authorities, for example, in the northeast side working in collaboration with La Ronge on anything because they just figure they're going to get scooped in that process. [And] the bands have their own economic development initiatives.

Competition for investment, resources, and funding emphasizes the distinctions among the three communities, making it difficult for organizations to co-operate and establish long-term relationships that are needed in order to work together.

The third impact of jurisdictional and administrative boundaries stems from the tendency for governments to work within their respective jurisdictions or specific policy "silos." This makes it difficult to co-ordinate the delivery of services and programs and discourages the development of new and innovative ways to address the needs of the community. According to one participant, collaboration between the federal and provincial governments is sorely lacking:

The feds typically run their own policy. For the most part, they totally disregard the province. And the province feels like the poor second cousin and they act like the poor second cousin at the table when it comes to anything related to the potential of bringing together some policy that would potentially [be beneficial].... Within government, they have enough problems across departments let alone trying to get some type of federal-provincial collaboration.

It is inefficient.... You see duplication in health systems where the [Lac] La Ronge Indian Band will build a brand new quasi-hospital down the road when you've got a provincial one sitting down here. You'll see a multimillion dollar high school sitting on reserve and a high school [in La Ronge] that's squeezed for space and can't get provincial money.... There has to be way closer co-operation between the two levels of government.

One co-operative development officer noted that provincial authorities perceived his idea of an education co-op as an educational initiative, and therefore a responsibility of the Ministry of Education:

I was asked to hand over the education co-op to the education people, who have no idea what it is about, how to put it together, and who are usually into the fee-for-service mentality — "This is not your area. You should not be doing this." Yet, there is all this demand in the communities for these kinds of things. People seem to be into this sort of reductionism — "This is all that I am responsible for and you better not trespass onto my area."

The tendency for government to work within rigid departmental and policy lines limits the possibility of creative and multidisciplinary approaches to addressing local problems.

#### Communication

The second key factor that makes it difficult for social economy groups to work more closely with one another is the lack of communication among organizations. Earlier in this report, we identified and discussed examples of partnership, collaboration, and co-operation, demonstrating that some organizations communicate effectively with others. As one participant explained:

I can pick up the phone and call on those organizations at any time. There aren't any super-secret projects out there.... I wouldn't call it co-ordinated. We do bounce ideas off of each other. Do we have a regular meeting with all the economic development people? No. I don't really know what everyone else is working on. We talk about what we are working on ... but it is not formal.

According to some participants, however, many of whom have been involved in successful partnerships, there is an unfulfilled need for local organizations to work together more

often and more co-operatively. Past efforts to develop a formalized and structured method for CED organizations to come together, share information, and collaborate were not always successful. When asked about the efforts of social economy organizations to work together, one participant noted:

[Saskatchewan] Northern Affairs has tried a couple of times [to get organizations together]. They used to run these business forums. They were like any other conference [and] they sort of became like a show and tell. People got up and talked about what they were doing, but it never coalesced into anything after that. They never used the opportunity to follow up and actually start bringing some of those key people to another table to start talking about northern economic development.

Local politics, overextended staff, and a lack of leadership also prevent organizations from communicating effectively with one another. According to one longtime community member, people are reluctant to volunteer their time to facilitate a forum for people and organizations to come together:

Local politics is like a blood sport. Nobody wants to get into it because they know what they're going to be up against, and it takes some exceptional facilitation skills to steer that kind of process without watching it blow up in your face.

At the same time, many participants believed that better communication and greater collaboration among local organizations would reduce the duplication of services and prevent unpopular or misguided decisions. For instance, several participants noted the confusion among local residents regarding the band's decision to build a new arena on the reserve while one exists in the Town of La Ronge. Participants also commented on the town's decision to build a water treatment plant in the middle of the beach shortly after it created a committee dedicated to the beautification of the community. While there may or may not have been good reasons for these decisions, the confusion among residents is illustrative of problematic communication between local leadership and the community.

Participants also believed that greater collaboration and planning among social economy organizations would be beneficial for the clients or members of those organizations, and the social economy generally. One interviewee, for instance, felt that residents would benefit from a more centralized location for CED organizations in La Ronge:

We should all be located in one building.... There are all of these disjointed organizations located all over the place.... [I]t would make so much sense, in terms of [serving] clients, to have "one-stop shopping" and to pool resources. We are wasting resources by having separate offices and separate administration.... A lot more could be happening if they would work more efficiently together.

When asked whether Northlands College works with local co-ops or nonprofits to develop training programs with these sectors in mind, one Northlands employee explained that this would require a higher level of co-ordination and co-operation among the organizations:

It's an area that could potentially be developed further, but not in isolation. We need Visions North and Northern Affairs — the regional and community-run economic development corporations. We need everybody working together on some kind of strategy on the same table. Until that occurs, we are going to respond on a one-on-one basis.

Overall, improved communication and collaboration would likely have both strategic and financial benefits for social economy organizations, their clients, and the broader community.

#### Understanding and Recognition of the Social Economy

A lack of understanding by government and the public about the role, approach, and goals of social economy organizations frustrates the efforts of many social economy actors in La Ronge. First, while there is a plethora of financial services and government programs designed to facilitate the development of profit-oriented enterprises, there are very few for nonprofits, co-operatives, and community-based organizations. Most social economy organizations have social as well as economic goals, and turning a profit may not be one of their key objectives. As a result, some economic development agencies do not fund or lend money to nonprofit groups. For example, the bylaws of Visions North CFDC prohibit the organization from lending to nonprofits. According to one employee, "They (nonprofit organizations) are stuck a lot of the time." The lack of access to capital makes it difficult for individuals and groups to start or develop nonprofit and community-based organizations.

While governments have strongly supported private sector and industry development,

they have not recognized the full impact or importance of social economy organizations to CED. One participant, for instance, noted that government funding for co-op development is insufficient and, as a result, promising opportunities are missed:

I would like to have three co-op people here.... My district is three hundred thousand kilometres.... I've done more than fifty thousand kilometres.... The education co-operative is a phenomenal idea and I really want to set that up. But I have two fishermen co-ops under development right now.... I have a bulk fuel co-op in Uranium City [and] the trappers and the Justice Trapline. I would also like to get a car co-op going. There's also the women's co-op in Pinehouse. So you put all that on a plate and I have enough work for two or three people.

One participant working for a federally funded economic development corporation said that although the federal government has recognized some of the organization's qualitative accomplishments in recent years, it is sometimes difficult to measure the economic impact of their work:

[I]t is hard to quantify the work we do. For example, we did a women's conference last year. We invited people from all over the North — different economic groups, women from the women's shelter and businesses. I had the feeling that if one women walked away thinking she should go back to school or that she should really stand on her own feet, or get out of a relationship and go back to school or re-enter the workforce, it was a success.

In the end, the existing funding and evaluation frameworks do not adequately capture the potential or real achievements of social economy organizations.

Some participants were irritated with the overall level of knowledge and interest among politicians and policy makers about the role of the social economy and northern Saskatchewan in general. While discussing the role of CFDCs in local development, one employee of Visions North CFDC stated:

It is just a lack of awareness. Unless you are tied to, or involved as, a minister, you may not know (about CFDCs).... A lot of them [politicians] do not know what a community futures does, especially those in urban areas. But there are 260 offices across Canada, which is a lot. I am no different; I had no idea what a CFDC was before I came here.

For some, there is greater frustration and concern about the separation between the politicians and policy makers located in the south and the northern communities for which they make decisions:

I would like to have the people who make the policies spend some time in the North; to have them recognize our perspective and what we do every day; that a scooter for Gary Tinker in Pinehouse doesn't work in the mud and that he needs an ATV; that the price of a quart of milk is \$3.00 and \$12.00 in Stony Rapids.... We need people to come up here before they make a policy that affects us [and] they better come see how it really affects that person.

Finally, the role and objectives of social economy organizations are often misunderstood by the general public. When asked if the community recognized social economy organizations and their contributions to the community, one member of the Arts Council replied:

I don't think they do. It's the regard that people have for the arts and entertainment. For example, there are a couple of guys who play some pretty good blues stuff. They've been playing together for a pretty long time. They made a deal with the Eagle Point Resort to do a four-hour-a-night kind of thing. They had a \$10 cover at the door and that included food. When people heard there was a \$10 cover, they were walking away. It's a community that doesn't understand that stuff.... If you want people to commit to being in a place, you have to improve their quality of life; it's not just bricks and mortar.

At the same time, social economy organizations may need to do more to help residents understand their missions and purposes. How residents perceive local organizations is particularly important, according to one participant:

For a lot of people, in the North especially, there is this suspicion or mistrust of government bureaucracy.... A few months ago, I had a young lady come in and see me. She said, "I've walked by here four times and finally, today, I got the nerve up and just rushed in. I was asking for help before I even knew what I was doing." I asked why it took her four times and she said, "I was scared. I pictured you guys in here in suits and ties." I said to my staff that we had to change our image to make people feel more comfortable.

Overall, there is an urgent need for politicians, policy makers, and the general public to better understand the social economy and its role in the community. Social economy organizations, along with government, must also proactively promote and communicate the social economy's contributions to their community.

#### Internal Organizational Development

The third key challenge facing the social economy in La Ronge is the shortage of financial and human resources, which limits organizational development and growth. These shortages limit the ability for some social economy organizations to maintain service levels, expand operations, and recruit trained and knowledgeable employees and volunteers. Financial constraints, for example, limit the activities of the Childcare Co-op and prevent the organization from taking on more children, even though the demand for its services continues to grow:

We really need a bigger infants centre. We only have three spots and there's a big waiting list for that room. We need one for nine more infants. And you need one staff for three infants.

The Childcare Co-op finds itself in a difficult position; increasing its rates could render its services unaffordable for many of its current and potential members.

In addition, some organizations have difficulty finding employees. Social economy organizations must compete, not only with each other, but with private and public institutions for employees, making it difficult to hire local residents as well as those from outside the community. The director of a local nonprofit organization discusses his experience with finding qualified employees:

Salary-wise, I can't compete with the reserve. If you are native and you work on the reserve, you don't have to pay taxes.... Some of the banks and credit unions have been hiring more aggressively. [And] why would you want to leave Saskatoon or Regina to come apprentice in La Ronge? You can stay closer to home and you will get the same education and the same training you would get up here.... With the increase in gas prices and travel, it makes it more difficult. Everything is a little more expensive in the North. Housing is a problem. We had a loans officer lined up [to come and work here] and he couldn't find suitable housing in his price range and a place that he was comfortable with, so that fell through.

Taken together, the cost of living in the North and stiff competition among local employers for skilled workers make it difficult for some social economy organizations to acquire skilled and knowledgeable employees.

For CED organizations, difficulties finding people with the required knowledge and skills stems not only from financial constraints; finding those with the required education, training, and experience can be difficult. Postsecondary institutions typically do not offer courses or programs centred on CED or social economy values. One CED practitioner explains:

I have a business degree. I don't remember doing any economic development or community type of training.... If we are not doing the training [in] school, we are hitting the ground running. The only way you are going to get that training is to work for an economic development agency. So if we could have a separate program set up for that, it would be good.

Furthermore, social economy organizations would also benefit if other professional groups such as lawyers, accountants, and bankers, better understood the nature, objectives, and values of nonprofits, co-operatives, and other socially and economically motivated organizations. Financial, accounting, and legal frameworks have a set of inherent values, some of which may be irrelevant or even detrimental to social economy organizations, especially Aboriginal ones (Quarter, Mook, and Richmond 2003; Findlay and Russell 2005).

Finally, social economy organizations in La Ronge are facing significant challenges to building leadership capacity in their organizations. To be sure, there is a small yet fiercely dedicated group of individuals in La Ronge who work tirelessly to make their community a better place to live. They are board members, organizers, innovators, and committed individuals who often go beyond what is asked of them. And this core group of individuals is frequently called upon to do even more. According to one interviewee, "With things like the Arts Council, or certain organizations that are attempting to provide quality-of-life services for people, it's always the same group of people that are extending themselves, whether it is through school mechanisms or nonprofit groups." Speaking about the co-op sector specifically, one participant noted the need for more youth involvement:

All credit unions and co-ops are in that quandary of fifty-five-year-old, middle-class males, and you have this situation where you have to have some turnover.... Not many people in the community are putting themselves out there. I can think of only a handful of people under the age of thirty-five who are getting involved. Dedicated community volunteers and leaders are often left feeling strained, burnt out, or overwhelmed by the demand for their time and energy. Understandably, this leads some volunteers to scale back their involvement or quit altogether, exacerbating an already dire need for volunteers and community leaders.

In summary, social economy organizations face significant challenges, including administrative, jurisdictional, and communicative barriers to collaboration; a lack of understanding and support from politicians, policy makers, and the general public; and funding and human resources shortages. Nonetheless, these challenges highlight opportunities to build upon the many successes of the social economy. Certainly, the co-operation and active involvement of governments and community members is required in order to address some of the challenges discussed above. To some extent, however, it is within the reach of social economy organizations to work with willing partners more frequently, communicate with one another in a more meaningful way, and educate the community about their organizations.

#### Conclusion

Tify the social economy actors in the community of La Ronge. We described and discussed the mandate and activities of many social economy organizations throughout this work. The second objective was to document some of the ways in which the social economy contributes to the social, economic, and cultural well-being of the community. Social economy organizations promote local businesses and strengthen the local economy; enhance the educational and career opportunities for local residents and northerners in general; improve the health and safety of residents and visitors; work diligently to provide exciting recreational and entertainment activities to community members; promote and preserve the arts and Aboriginal culture, traditions, and knowledge; and create safe, diverse, and inclusive spaces for all members of the community.

The third objective was to identify the current challenges and opportunities confronting the social economy in La Ronge. Although the challenges are significant, they highlight the importance of partnership, communication, and collaboration among social economy actors, and the need to educate politicians, policy makers, and the public about the roles and the successes of the social economy in creating healthy communities. At the same time, this study demonstrated that the active participation of governments is required in order to address some of the challenges such as jurisdictional barriers or a lack of programs and funding targeted for social economy organizations.

Throughout its history, the community of La Ronge has experienced both great success and undeniable hardship. It has been a forgotten community as well as the focal point of great expectations. Social economy organizations in La Ronge were created to meet some of the community's most pressing needs. Although unco-ordinated and disjointed at times, the social economy in La Ronge has succeeded and survived because of its relevance to local residents and its capacity to meet the social, economic, and cultural needs of its clients, members, and community.

#### APPENDIX A: INVITATION TO PARTICIPATE

25 July 2006

#### Dear X:

We are writing to request an hour of your time for an interview during the week of August 1st to 4th.

#### Why?

We are conducting a major research initiative on the role of various nonprofit and co-operative organizations in community economic development (CED). Among the communities we will be studying in the exploratory phase is the La Ronge area. As a recognized leader in the region, your frontline knowledge, experience, and insight would provide us with a unique and valuable perspective.

#### **Project Overview**

In this phase of the project, we are comparing the roles of social enterprises in community economic development across three settings: rural, urban, and northern.

Our two main research objectives are:

- to identify how some of the strengths, challenges, and successes of organizations compare and contrast across regional contexts
- to identify opportunities for learning and sharing innovations across regions

#### Who Is Involved?

There are three basic stakeholders in the longer-range research initiative:

- 1. *Membership-based community organizations* like yours, which may be able to:
  - learn from the experiences and innovative strategies of similar organizations in other regions who have dealt with similar challenges
  - find the research useful in making the case for your work with local policy makers and program administrators

- 2. Members of the research community, who want to:
  - build a better understanding of the grassroots needs, challenges, and priorities of membership-based community organizations like yours
  - build the base of evidence for the social and economic benefits that these organizations contribute to building strong communities
- 3. *Public policy makers*, interested in developing more supportive policy and programs for social enterprise and community economic development

#### Benefits of Participation

There are two main benefits to being involved:

- 1. We hope the findings generated by this research will be *useful* to all stakeholders. Our findings will be provided to you as they are available.
- 2. Your contribution will also help *set direction* for a major follow-up research project that will roll out over the next five years. This consultation will be an opportunity, therefore, to ensure:
  - the issues important to your membership and community are heard and reflected in our thinking and recommendations to policy-makers
  - your concerns are taken into account as future research priorities are set

I will be in touch soon to arrange a convenient interview time. We will be in the La Ronge area from August 1st to 4th and are very much looking forward to meeting you, if possible. You can reach Robert with any questions you may have and/or to arrange a time that works best for you.

#### Sincerely,

Robert Dobrohoczki
(La Ronge Co-ordinator)
PhD Candidate
Centre for the Study of Co-operatives
University of Saskatchewan
Saskatoon, SK S7N 5B8
Tel: (306) 934–8079
e-mail: rob.dobrohoczki@usask.ca

Professor Isobel M. Findlay (Principal Investigator) Dep't of Management and Marketing Edwards School of Business University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, SK S7N 5A7 Tel: (306) 966–2385 / Fax (306) 966–2516

e-mail: Findlay@edwards.usask.ca

Linking, Learning, Leveraging: Social Enterprises, Knowledgeable Economies and Sustainable Communities — A joint initiative of the Community-University Institute for Social Research and the Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, University of Saskatchewan, with funding provided by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada.

#### APPENDIX B: INTERVIEW CONSENT FORM

You are invited to participate in a study entitled *Exploring the Social Economy in Saskatchewan: Urban, Rural, and Northern* (part of a larger study titled *Linking, Learning, Leveraging: Social Enterprises, Knowledgeable Economies, and Sustainable Communities*). Please read this form carefully and feel free to ask any questions you might have.

Researchers: Kimberly Brown

Robert Dobrohoczki

Isobel Findlay (Principal Investigator)

University of Saskatchewan

Community-University Institute for Social Research

University of Saskatchewan R.J.D. Williams Building

432–221 Cumberland Avenue, Saskatoon, SK S7N 1M3

Centre Office: 966-2121

Fax: 966–2122

Purpose and Procedure: I would like to receive your responses to some questions about participation in the social economy or social economy organizations. This information will be gathered though e-mail or an in-person interview, which may be audiotaped for transcription if you agree. If you agree, we may take photographs or videotape for the use of the research project only. This research project is co-ordinated by the Community-University Institute for Social Research (CUISR) and the Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, University of Saskatchewan, in partnership with other Canadian universities, and with various community and co-operative partner organizations. The research is funded by the Social Science and Humanities Research Council of Canada (SSHRC) and the University of Saskatchewan has received substantial in-kind support from academic and community partner organizations.

The project will investigate how social economy enterprises help build more respectful relationships within communities, with the environment, and among stakeholders. Such relationships include not-for-profits, co-operatives, community economic development organizations, community-based organizations, and other voluntary-sector initiatives. The re-

searchers will look at five areas: social enterprise development; financing strategies for this development; governance of social economy enterprises; measuring and mapping the social economy; and developing policy frameworks for the social economy.

Your participation in this study is appreciated and completely voluntary. You may with-draw at any time during this process should you feel uncomfortable or at risk. You should also feel free to decline to answer any particular question(s). Should you choose to withdraw from the study, no data pertaining to your participation will be retained.

Potential Risks: Because I collect your consent and your personal identity information in the sections below, there is some risk that your identity may not be entirely preserved. I will make every effort to preserve the confidentiality of your comments but you should be aware that controversial remarks, in the unlikely event they are associated with you, could have negative consequences for your relationships with others in your organization or co-operative community. I will try to ensure that your identity is protected in the ways described below. If for some reason I desire to quote you in some way that might reveal your identity, I will seek your permission beforehand.

Potential Benefits: Your participation in this research project is greatly appreciated. Your participation will help investigate how social economy enterprises help build more respectful relationships within communities, with the environment, and among stakeholders. Findings from this component of the research may help to make the social economy sector more responsive to the needs of its members, enhance the economic situation of communities across Canada, and help to inform policy decisions both within the sector and government.

**Storage and Data:** The transcripts and original audio recording of the interview, if one is made, will be securely stored at the Centre for the Study of Co-operatives under the care and administration of the project management team, and for a period of at least five years.

Confidentiality and Data Release: Your interview will be transcribed directly by a transcriber who has signed a confidentiality agreement. After your interview, and prior to any data being included in a final report, you will be given the opportunity to review the transcript of your interview, and to add, alter, or delete information from the transcripts as you see fit. Interview transcripts will be seen only by the researchers connected with this project. In addition, key representatives from the stakeholder group, identified to the group in a clear and transparent manner, will be responsible for reading the final draft of the report to check it for accuracy.

The research conclusions will be published in a variety of formats, both print and electronic. These materials may be further used for purposes of conference presentations, or publication in academic journals or popular press. In these publications, the data will be reported in a manner that protects confidentiality and the anonymity of participants. Participants will be identified without names being used, giving minimal information (for example what region they are from or whether they are staff, board, management, member, etc.) if this information is relevant. Pseudonyms or composite profiles may be used to disguise identity further, if necessary. In principle, actual names will not be used; however, leaders whose

position involves speaking on behalf of the organization may be asked if certain comments they have made can be attributed to them by name in publications. Any communications of these results that has clear potential to compromise your public anonymity will not proceed without your approval.

Right to Withdraw: Your participation is voluntary, and you may withdraw from the study for any reason, at any time, without penalty of any sort. If you choose to withdraw from the study, any data that you have contributed will be destroyed at your request. You will be informed of any major changes that occur in the circumstances of this study or in the purpose and design of the research that may have a bearing on your decision to remain as a participant.

Questions: If you have any questions concerning the study, please feel free to ask at any point; you are also free to contact the researchers at the numbers provided above if you have questions at a later time.

This study was approved on ethical grounds by the University of Saskatchewan Behavioural Sciences Research Ethics Board on 13 July 2006. Any questions regarding your rights as a participant may be addressed to that committee through the Ethics Office (306) 966–2084). Out of town participants may call collect.

You may access results by contacting the Director, Centre for the Study of Co-operatives at (306) 966–8509.

Consent to Participate: I have read and understood the descriptions provided above. I have been provided with an opportunity to ask questions and my questions have been answered satisfactorily. I consent to participate in the study described above, understanding that I may withdraw this consent at any time. A copy of this consent form has been given to me for my records.

(Name of Participant – please print)	(Date)
(Signature of Participant)	
	(Signature of Researcher(s))

#### APPENDIX C: INTERVIEW GUIDE

The questions below are part of the semi-structured interview guide. Not all of the questions will be appropriate for every interview, nor is the list exhaustive, given the semi-structured interview approach, which allows the interviewer to probe the themes in more depth. However, these questions are an approximate guide for the kind of questions that will be asked.

History of Person and Organization — Questions will include the individual's personal experience and history concerning their relationship with the organization and other organizations in the social economy, as well as a historical overview of the organization, its purpose and mandate. If relevant, basic socio-economic information may be asked, including such things as age, gender, education level, income level, work experience, etc. Sample questions include:

- 1. Tell us about yourself. [questions may be about age, gender, income level, educational level, work experience, depending on relevance]
- 2. Tell us about this community. Is it part of a larger region? What are the boundaries of this region?
- 3. How did you become involved with this organization?
- 4. How were you involved with the community before and after your involvement with this organization? Were you involved with other organizations like this?
- 5. Tell us about the organization. What is its purpose? Its history?
- 6. What are, or you hope will be, the lasting contributions of your organization?

Linkages to Community — Questions will probe issues such as the linkages to other social economy organizations, players, and key individuals. The contributions to community and economy will also be explored in terms of social cohesion and social capital, trust and meaning, and pathways to membership. We will explore issues such as who or what type of individual gets involved in the social economy, and why, and what obstacles they face. Sample questions include:

- 7. How does your organization contribute to the community socially and economically?
- 8. What are some of the key innovations of your organization?
- 9. What sorts of crises has your organization faced? How did it deal with them?

- 10. What links do you have to other organizations in the community? [open-ended to start, but also meant to probe connections not normally associated with social economy such as trade associations, labour unions, political parties, etc.]
- 11. How are you linked? [e.g., money, staff, support, partnerships, collaborations, etc.]
- 12. Who do you see as key players at the community level?
- 13. Which organizations are the most important to you and why?
- 14. How many staff are employed/volunteer with your organization? How many board members? Is finding sufficient labour problematic?
- 15. How do people become involved with your organization? What kinds of people become involved?
- 16. How involved are your staff/employees/volunteers/members with the community?
- 17. Do staff/volunteers/members tend to be community minded before becoming involved with your organization?
- 18. How important are volunteers to your organization?
- 19. What is the biggest obstacle facing your staff/volunteers/members?

Policy and Borders Issues on the Social Economy (Market-State Relationships) — These questions explore the boundaries of the social economy and linkages with government agencies and policy makers, with the private, for-profit sector, as well as with the informal economy. The intention is to explore complementary and/or contradictory players in the first and second sectors and how they interact in the social economy with this organization and others, as well as key questions on obstacles they face and public policy issues. Sample questions include:

- 20. What is the biggest obstacle facing your organization?
- 21. Do you think links or networks to the community or other organizations like yours could be strengthened? If so, what obstacles stand in the way? What things facilitate these networks?
- 22. What are some of the factors holding your organization back?
- 23. What links do you have to government agencies? [civic, provincial, federal]
- 24. Are you helped or hindered by government agencies?
- 25. Does government policy [civic, provincial, federal] help your organization?
- 26. How important are volunteers to the economic well-being of your community? The informal economy [unpaid labour]?
- 27. What sort of organizations are there in the community, either formally or informally?
- 28. What links do you have with for-profit businesses or associations?
- 29. Does the private sector help or hinder your organization? Are they competition?

- 30. Do you think the private sector could do more for your organization/sector? If so, why do you think so?
- 31. Do you think the private sector could do more for the community? If so, why do you think they do not do so now?
- 32. How important is "community spirit" for your organization? For the economy?

**Democracy** — These questions explore the structure of the organization, its decision-making process, leadership, and organizational culture. It explores the role of democracy and democratic values in social economy organizations, including issues such as diversity, accessibility, and representation. Sample questions include:

- 33. Is your organization a good place to work?
- 34. What is the organization's relationship with its workers? Clients?
- 35. How are decisions made in your organization?
- 36. How is conflict handled in your organization?
- 37. What is the role of leadership in your organization? Does it have strong leaders/founding members? Are they involved with other organizations?
- 38. How diverse is your organization? What groups of citizens/members/clients does your organization represent?
- 39. Is it hard to find board members? Volunteers? If so, what is the biggest obstacle?
- 40. How well attended are AGMs? Is it hard to achieve quorum for board meetings?
- 41. Is there a problem with burnout? High turnover? Retaining talent?
- 42. Is your board diverse? Does your board reflect the diversity of your membership?
- 43. Does your board have a clearly defined code of ethics?
- 44. Do you think your organization is democratic?
- 45. How important is democracy to your organization?
- 46. How do positive results for your members/clients/users affect the community?

#### Concluding Questions

- 47. Our project focuses on and explores how organizations like yours operate in community. How and why do you consider your organization to be part of this sector?
- 48. How is your organization run differently from a private sector organization, or is it run differently?
- 49. How is your organization run differently from a public sector organization, or is it run differently?
- 50. Are there any questions you would like us to ask about yourself or your organization, or questions you think we should be asking other individuals or organizations in our study?

#### REFERENCES

- Community Resilience Project Team. 1999. "The Community Resilience Manual." *Making Waves* 10 (4): 10–14. http://www.cedworks.com/files/pdf/free/MW100410.pdf (accessed 14 January 10).
- Conference Board of Canada. 2002. Achieving Industry Standards in a Remote Northern Community: Developing Employees' Skills at La Ronge Motor Hotel. Case Study. December. Ottawa. http://www.nald.ca/library/research/CBoC/LaRonge/LaRonge.pdf (accessed 14 January 10).
- Findlay, Isobel, and John Russell. "Aboriginal Economic Development and the Triple Bottom Line: Toward a Sustainable Future?" *Journal of Aboriginal Economic Development* 4 (2): 84–99.
- Government of Canada. 2006. *Communities under Pressure: The Role of Co-operatives and the Social Economy. Synthesis Report.* Policy Research Initiative, Ottawa. http://www.policyresearch.gc.ca/doclib/SR\_PEX\_communities\_200606\_e.pdf (accessed 14 January 10).
- Lac La Ronge Indian Band. 2009. Website. http://www.llrib.ca/about.php. (accessed 23 March 09).
- McKay, Raymond. 2004. "Kitsaki Management Limited Partnership: An Aboriginal Economic Development Model." *Journal of Aboriginal Economic Development* 4 (1): 3–5.
- Northlands College, Northern Labour Market Committee and the Ministry of Advanced Education, Employment and Labour Northern Region Office (Northlands College et al.). 2009. Northern Saskatchewan: Regional Training Needs Assessment Report: 2009–2010. January. http://career.kcdc.ca/fore/pdf/2009/2009RegionReportfinalwithcover.pdf (accessed 5 August 09)
- Pattison, Dwayne, and Isobel M. Findlay. 2010. *Self-Determination in Action: The Entre- preneurship of the Northern Saskatchewan Trappers Association Co-operative*. CommunityUniversity Institute for Social Research and Centre for the Study of Co-operatives,
  University of Saskatchewan.
- Quarter, Jack, Laurie Mook, and Betty Jane Richmond. 2003. *What Counts: Social Accounting for Nonprofits and Cooperatives*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

- Rosten Bergsma Business Solutions. 2006. "La Ronge Theatre Feasibility Study." Draft 1. A Report Prepared for the Northern Entertainment Co-operative.
- Rozon, G. 2006. "Needs Assessment Report and Proposed Action Plan." A Report Prepared for NorthSask Special Needs Housing, Employment, Recreation Inc., La Ronge.
- Saskatchewan Northern Affairs (SNA). 2002. Northern Saskatchewan: A Transformation. Regina: Saskatchewan Northern Affairs.
- Sloan, Pamela, and David Oliver. 2009. "Michelin's Strategic Partnership with Indigenous Peoples (A): The Basis for Partnership." *International Journal of Case Studies in Management* 7 (2): 1–12.
- Statistics Canada (StatCan). 2007a. *Air Ronge, Saskatchewan* (table). 2006 Community Profiles. 2006 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 92–591–XWE. Ottawa. Released 13 March 2007. http://www12.statcan.ca/english/census06/data/profiles/community/ Index.cfm?Lang=E (accessed 20 November 08).
- Statistics Canada (StatCan). 2007b. *Kitsakie 156B, Saskatchewan* (table). 2006 Community *Profiles*. 2006 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 92–591–XWE. Ottawa. Released 13 March 13, 2007. http://www12.statcan.ca/english/census06/data/profiles/community/Index.cfm?Lang=E (accessed 28 November 08).
- Statistics Canada (StatCan). 2007c. *Lac La Ronge 156*, *Saskatchewan* (table). 2006 Community *Profiles*. 2006 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 92–591–XWE. Ottawa. Released 13 March 2007. http://www12.statcan.ca/english/census06/data/profiles/community/ Index.cfm?Lang=E (accessed 28 November 08).
- Statistics Canada (StatCan). 2007d. *La Ronge, Saskatchewan* (table). 2006 Community Profiles. 2006 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 92–591–XWE. Ottawa. Released 13 March 2007. http://www12.statcan.ca/english/census06/data/profiles/community/ Index.cfm?Lang=E (accessed 20 November 08).
- Vaillancourt, Yves. 2008. "Social Economy in the Co-Construction of Public Policy." Translated from the French by the Social Economy Hub for the Public Policy Committee. http://usaskstudies.coop/socialeconomy/?p=245 (accessed 14 January 10).

# LIST OF PUBLICATIONS COMMUNITY-UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE FOR SOCIAL RESEARCH

- Achieving a Healthy, Sustainable Community: Quality of Life in Saskatoon, Saskatchewan. Research Summary (2001).
- Allan, Nancy, and Michael Gertler. 2006. Remaking the Links: Fair Trade for Local and Global Community Development.
- Amankwah, Dinah. 2003. Integrative Wraparound (IWRAP) Process Training.
- Avis, Kyla, and Angela Bowen. 2004. Postpartum Depression Support Program Evaluation.
- Banks, Christopher. 2004. The Co\$t of Homophobia: Literature Review on the Economic Impact of Homophobia on Canada.
- ———. 2003. The Cost of Homophobia: Literature Review on the Human Impact of Homophobia on Canada.
- Berntson, Ron. 2003. Peer Victimization Experiences in High School.
- Bidonde, Julia. 2006. Experiencing the Saskatoon YWCA Crisis Shelter: Residents' Views. Please contact Clara Bayliss at the YWCA at 244–7034, ext. 121 or at info@ywcasaskatoon.com for copies of this report.
- Bowen, Angela. 2004. Healthy Mother Healthy Baby: Program Logic Model and Evaluability Assessment.
- Bowditch, Joanne. 2003. Inventory of Hunger Programs in Saskatoon.
- "Building a Caring Community." Briefing Paper for Quality of Life Public Policy Forum (20 October 2001), Saskatoon Centennial Auditorium.
- "Building a Caring Community Together." Quality of Life Briefing Paper (May 2005).
- Building a Caring Community Together: A Collaborative Poverty Elimination Strategy. November 2006.
- Chopin, Nicola S., and Isobel M. Findlay. 2010. Exploring Key Informants' Experiences with Self-Directed Funding: A Research Report

- Daniel, Ben. 2006. Evaluation of the YWCA Emergency Crisis Shelter: Staff and Stakeholder Perspectives. Please contact Clara Bayliss at the YWCA at 244–7034, ext. 121 or at info@ywcasaskatoon.com for copies of this report.
- Diamantopolous, Mitch, and Isobel M. Findlay. 2007. *Growing Pains: Social Enterprise in Saskatoon's Core Neighbourhoods*.
- Drechsler, Coralee. 2003. Influencing Poverty Reduction Policy through Research Evidence: Immigrant Women's Experience in Saskatoon.
- Dressler, Mary Pat. 2004. Aboriginal Women Share Their Stories in an Outreach Diabetes Education Program.
- Dunning, Heather. 2004. A Mixed Method Approach to Quality of Life in Saskatoon.
- Dyck, Carmen. 2004. "Off Welfare Now What?" A Literature Review on the Impact of Provincial Welfare to Work Training Programs in Saskatchewan.
- ——. 2005. "Off Welfare ... Now What?" Phase II, Part 2: Analysis.
- Engler-Stringer, Rachel. 2006. Collective Kitchens in Three Canadian Cities: Impacts on the Lives of Participants.
- Evitts, Trina, Nazeem Muhajarine, and Debbie Pushor. 2005. Full-Time Kindergarten in Battlefords School Division #118 Community Schools.
- Fernandes, Neville. 2003. Saskatchewan's Regional Economic Development Authorities: A Background Document.
- Fillingham, Jennifer. 2006. SEN-CUISR Environmental Charitable Organization Feasibility Study, Phase Two.
- Findlay, Isobel M., Julia Bidonde, Maria Basualdo, and Alyssa McMurtry. 2009. South Bay Park Rangers Employment Project for Persons Living with a Disability: A Case Study in Individual Empowerment and Community Interdependence
- Gauley, Marg. 2006. Evaluation of Respectful Conflict Resolution and Peer Mediation Program.
- Gold, Jenny. 2004. Profile of an Inter-Sectoral Issue: Children Not in School.
- Grosso, Paula. 2003. Uprooting Poverty and Planting Seeds for Social Change: The Roots of Poverty Project.
- Grosso, Paula, and Jodi Crewe. 2004. Project Greenhorn: Community Gardening.
- Harlingten, Leora. 2004. Saskatoon Charging and Disposition Patterns Under Section 213 of the Criminal Code of Canada.
- Henry, Carol J., Carol Vandale, Susan Whiting, Flo Woods, Shawna Berenbaum, and Adrian Blunt. 2006. *Breakfast/Snack Programs in Saskatchewan Elementary Schools: Evaluating Benefits, Barriers, and Essential Skills.*
- Jackson, Maureen. 2004. Closer to Home: Child and Family Poverty in Saskatoon.

- Janzen, Bonnie. 2003. An Evaluation of the Federation of Canadian Municipalities Quality of Life Reporting System.
- Jonker, Peter, Colleen Whitedeer, and Diane McDonald. 2005. Building Capacity of Fond du Lac Entrepreneurs to Establish and Operate Local Tourism Business: Assessment and Proposed Training.
- Kelsey, Melissa V. 2004. Determining Saskatoon's Value Profile.
- Klymyshyn, Sherry, and Lee Everts. 2007. Evaluation of Saskatoon Community Clinic Group Program for "At Risk" Elderly.
- Kynoch, Bev. 2003. The Brightwater Environmental and Science Project: Respecting Traditional Ecological Knowledge — The Soul of a Tribal People.
- Li, Song. 2004. Direct Care Personnel Recruitment, Retention and Orientation.
- Lisoway, Amanda. 2004. 211 Saskatchewan Situational Analysis.
- Lynch, Karen, and Isobel M. Findlay. 2007. A New Vision for Saskatchewan: Changing Lives and Systems through Individualized Funding for People with Intellectual Disabilities A Research Report.
- Lynch, Karen, Cara Spence, and Isobel M. Findlay. 2007. *Urban Aboriginal Strategy Funding Database: A Research Report*.
- MacDermott, Wendy. 2005. Youth ... on the Brink of Success: Youth Addictions Project. Final report is also available from Communities for Children, contact Sydney Bell at sydney-bell@communitiesforchildren.net
- ——. 2004. Evaluation of the Activities of the Working Group to Stop the Sexual Exploitation of Children.
- ———. 2004. Common Functional Assessment and Disability-Related Agencies and Departments in Saskatoon.
- ——. 2003. Child Poverty in Canada, Saskatchewan, and Saskatoon: A Literature Review and the Voices of the People.
- McRae, Stacy, and Keith Walker. 2007. An Evaluation of Family to Family Ties: A Review of Family Mentorship in Action.
- Moneo, Cameron, Maria Basualdo, Isobel Findlay, and Wendy MacDermott. 2008. Broadway Theatre Membership Assessment. A Research Report.
- Muhajarine, Nazeem, Maureen Horn, Jody Glacken, Trina Evitts, Debbie Pushor, and Brian Keegan. 2007. Full-Time Kindergarten in Saskatchewan, Part One: An Evaluation Framework for Saskatchewan Full-Time Kindergarten Programs.
- Muhajarine, Nazeem, Trina Evitts, Maureen Horn, Jody Glacken, and Debbie Pushor. 2007. Full-Time Kindergarten in Saskatchewan, Part Two: An Evaluation of Full-Time Kindergarten Programs in Three School Divisions.

- Ofosuhene, Maxwell. 2003. Saskatchewan River Basin-Wide Survey of Resident's Attitudes Towards Water Resources and the Environment.
- Olfert, Sandi. 2003. Quality of Life Leisure Indicators.
- Prokop, Shelley T. 2009. *Program Evaluation of the Saskatoon Community Clinic Strengthening the Circle Program*.
- Propp, A.J. (Jim). 2005. Preschool: As Essential As Food: an Effectiveness Review of the Saskatoon Preschool Foundation Tuition Subsidy Program.
- Quality of Life Module. *Quality of Life in Saskatoon, Saskatchewan: Achieving a Healthy, Sustainable Community* (November 2006 summary of research, 2004 iteration).
- Radloff, Karla. 2006. Community Resilience, Community Economic Develoment, and Saskatchewan Economic Developers.
- Reed, Maureen. 2003. Situating Indicators of Social Well-Being in Rural Saskatchewan Communities.
- Roberts, Claire. 2006. Refugee Women and Their Postpartum Experiences.
- Ruby, Tabassum. 2004. Immigrant Muslim Women and the Hijab: Sites of Struggle in Crafting and Negotiating Identities in Canada.
- Sanderson, Kim, Michael Gertler, Diane Martz, and Ramesh Mahabir. 2005. Farmer's Markets in North America: A Background Document.
- Schmidt, Heather, Patrick Derocher, Jeff McCallum, and Yolanda McCallum. 2006. *Understanding the Strengths of the Indigenous Communities*. Flying Dust First Nation Focus Group Report.
- Seguin, Maureen. 2006. Alberta Mentoring Partnerships: Overview and Recommendations to Saskatoon Mentoring Agencies.
- Sinclair, Raven, and Sherri Pooyak. 2007. *Aboriginal Mentoring in Saskatoon: A Cultural Perspective.*
- Soles, Kama. 2003. Affordable, Accessible Housing Needs Assessment at the North Saskatchewan Independent Living Centre.
- Spence, Cara, and Isobel M. Findlay. 2007. Evaluation of Saskatoon Urban Aboriginal Strategy: A Research Report.
- Stadnyk, Nadia, Nazeem Muhajarine, and Tammy J. Butler. 2005. *The Impact of KidsFirst Saskatoon Home Visiting Program in Families' Lives*. Appendix A (1.07 MB) Appendix B (4.25 MB) Appendix C (1.1 MB).
- Sun, Yinshe. 2005. Development of Neighbourhood Quality of Life Indicators.
- Tannis, Derek. 2006. Mentoring in Saskatoon: Toward a Meaningful Partnership.
- Tupone, Juliano. 2003. The Core Neighbourhood Youth Co-op: A Review and Long-Term Strategy.

Wohlgemuth, Nicole R. 2004. School Fees in Saskatoon.

Woods, Florence. 2003. Access to Food in Saskatoon's Core Neighborhood.

Wright, Judith, and Nazeem Muhajarine. 2003. Respiratory Illness in Saskatoon Infants: The Impact of Housing and Neighbourhood Characteristics.

To order from the list on pages 51–55, please contact: Community-University Institute for Social Research RJD Williams Building 432 – 221 Cumberland Avenue Saskatoon SK Canada S7N 1M3 Phone: (306) 966–2136 / Fax: (306) 966–2122

E-mail: cuisr.liaison@usask.ca Website: www/usask.ca/cuisr

# LIST OF PUBLICATIONS CENTRE FOR THE STUDY OF CO-OPERATIVES

Please note that most of the publications below are available on the Centre's website in downloadable pdf format.

#### **Occasional Papers Series**

(Occasional papers are 8 1/2 x 11 format)

- 2009 Financing Aboriginal Enterprise Development: The Potential of Using Co-operative Models. Lou Hammond Ketilson and Kimberly Brown (104pp. \$15)
- The Agriculture of the Middle Initiative: Premobilizing Considerations and Formal Co-operative Structure. Thomas W. Gray (54pp. \$12)
- 2007 Social Cohesion through Market Democratization: Alleviating Legitimation Deficits through Co-operation. Rob Dobrohoczki (68pp. \$10)
- Data Collection in the Co-operative Sector and Other Business Statistics in Canada and the United States. Angela Wagner and Cristine de Clercy (224pp. \$25)
- The Case of the Saint-Camille Care and Services Solidarity Co-operative and Its Impact on Social Cohesion. Geneviève Langlois, with the collaboration of Patrick De Bortoli and under the guidance of Jean-Pierre Girard and Benoît Lévesque (96pp. \$10)

- 2005 "Canada's Co-operative Province": Individualism and Mutualism in a Settler Society, 1905–2005. Brett Fairbairn (76pp. \$10)
- 2004 Negotiating Synergies: A Study in Multiparty Conflict Resolution. Marj Benson (408pp. \$35)
- 2003 Co-operatives and Farmers in the New Agriculture. Murray Fulton and Kim Sanderson (60pp. \$10)
- 2002 Conflict, Co-operation, and Culture: A Study in Multiparty Negotiations. Marj Benson (242pp. \$25)
- 2002 Adult Educators in Co-operative Development: Agents of Change. Brenda Stefanson (102pp. \$12)
- "An Educational Institute of Untold Value": The Evolution of the Co-operative College of Canada, 1953–1987. Jodi Crewe (66pp. \$10)
- 1999 The Components of Online Education: Higher Education on the Internet. Byron Henderson (78pp. \$12)
- 1998 Co-operative Organization in Rural Canada and the Agricultural Co-operative Movement in China: A Comparison. Zhu Shufang and Leonard P. Apedaile (56pp. \$10)
- 1996 Comparative Financial Performance Analysis of Canadian Co-operatives, Investor-Owned Firms, and Industry Norms. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (152pp. \$12)
- 1994 Credit Unions and Caisses Populaires: Background, Market Characteristics, and Future Development. J.T. Zinger (26pp. \$6)
- 1994 The Meaning of Rochdale: The Rochdale Pioneers and the Co-operative Principles. Brett Fairbairn (62pp. \$10)
- 1993 The Co-operative Movement: An International View. S.K. Saxena (20pp. \$6)
- 1992 Co-operatives in Principle and Practice. Anne McGillivray and Daniel Ish (144pp. \$10)
- 1992 Matador: The Co-operative Farming Tradition. George Melnyk (26pp. \$6)
- 1992 Co-operative Development: Towards a Social Movement Perspective. Patrick Develtere (114pp. \$15)
- 1991 *The Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan: A Statistical Overview.* Louise Simbandumwe, Murray Fulton, and Lou Hammond Ketilson (54pp. \$6)
- 1991 Farmers, Capital, and the State in Germany, c 1860–1914. Brett Fairbairn (36pp. \$6)
- 1990 Community-Based Models of Health Care: A Bibliography. Lou Hammond Ketilson and Michael Quennell (66pp. \$8)
- 1989 Patronage Allocation, Growth, and Member Well-Being in Co-operatives. Jeff Corman and Murray Fulton (48pp. \$8)
- The Future of Worker Co-operatives in Hostile Environments: Some Reflections from Down Under. Allan Halladay and Colin Peile (94pp. \$6)

- Worker Co-operatives and Worker Ownership: Issues Affecting the Development of Worker Co-operatives in Canada. Christopher Axworthy and David Perry (100pp. \$10)
- 1988 A History of Saskatchewan Co-operative Law 1900 to 1960. Donald Mullord, Christopher Axworthy, and David Liston (66pp. \$8)
- 1988 Co-operative Organizations in Western Canada. Murray Fulton (40pp. \$7)
- 1988 Farm Interest Groups and Canadian Agricultural Policy. Barry Wilson, David Laycock, and Murray Fulton (42pp. \$8)
- 1987 Election of Directors in Saskatchewan Co-operatives: Processes and Results. Lars Apland (72pp. \$6)
- 1987 The Property of the Common: Justifying Co-operative Activity. Finn Aage Ekelund (74pp. \$6)
- 1987 Co-operative/Government Relations in Canada: Lobbying, Public Policy Development and the Changing Co-operative System. David Laycock (246pp. \$10)
- 1987 *The Management of Co-operatives: A Bibliography.* Lou Hammond Ketilson, Bonnie Korthuis, and Colin Boyd (144pp. \$10)
- 1987 Labour Relations in Co-operatives. Kurt Wetzel and Daniel G. Gallagher (30pp. \$6)
- Worker Co-operatives: An International Bibliography/ Coopératives de Travailleurs: Une Bibliographie Internationale. Rolland LeBrasseur, Alain Bridault, David Gallingham, Gérard Lafrenière, and Terence Zinger (76pp. \$6)
- 1986 Co-operatives and Their Employees: Towards a Harmonious Relationship. Christopher Axworthy (82pp. \$6)
- 1986 Co-operatives and Social Democracy: Elements of the Norwegian Case. Finn Aage Ekelund (42pp. \$6)
- 1986 Encouraging Democracy in Consumer and Producer Co-operatives. Stuart Bailey (124pp. \$10)
- 1986 A New Model for Producer Co-operatives in Israel. Abraham Daniel (54pp. \$6)
- 1985 Worker Co-operatives in Mondragon, the U.K., and France: Some Reflections. Christopher Axworthy (48pp. \$10)
- 1985 Employment Co-operatives: An Investment in Innovation: Proceedings of the Saskatoon Worker Co-operative Conference. Skip McCarthy, ed. (288pp. \$23)
- 1985 Prairie Populists and the Idea of Co-operation, 1910–1945. David Laycock (48pp. \$6)

#### Books, Research Reports, and Other Publications

Please note that research reports are available on our website and on loan from our library.

2010 Portrait of Community Resilience of Sault Ste. Marie. Jude Ortiz and Linda Savory-Gordon (8 1/2 x 11, 80pp., Research Report Series)

- Building Community: Creating Social and Economic Well-Being: A Conference Reflecting on Co-operative Strategies and Experiences. Conference report prepared by Mark McCulloch (8 1/2 x 11, 60pp., available on our website and on loan from our library)
- 2010 *Municipal Government Support of the Social Economy Sector.* Jenny Kain, Emma Sharkey, and Robyn Webb (8 1/2 x 11, 96pp., Research Report Series)
- 2010 Community-Based Planning: Engagement, Collaboration, and Meaningful Participation in the Creation of Neighbourhood Plans. Karin Kliewer (8 1/2 x 11, 72pp., Research Report Series)
- 2010 Eat Where You Live: Building a Social Economy of Local Food in Western Canada. Joel Novek and Cara Nichols (8 1/2 x 11, 72pp., Research Report Series)
- 2010 Exploring Key Informants' Experiences with Self-Directed Funding. Nicola S. Chopin and Isobel M. Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 122pp., Research Report Series)
- 2010 Adult Education and the Social Economy: The Communitarian Pedagogy of Watson Thomson. Michael Chartier (8 1/2 x 11, 114pp., MA Thesis/Research Report Series)
- Self-Determination in Action: The Entrepreneurship of the Northern Saskatchewan Trappers Association Co-operative. Dwayne Pattison and Isobel M. Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 64pp., Research Report Series)
- 2009 Walking Backwards into the Future. George Melnyk (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- South Bay Park Rangers Employment Project for Persons Living with a Disability: A Case Study in Individual Empowerment and Community Interdependence. Isobel M. Findlay, Julia Bidonde, Maria Basualdo, and Alyssa McMurtry (8 1/2 x 11, 46pp., Research Report Series)
- 2009 *Co-operative Marketing Options for Organic Agriculture.* Jason Heit and Michael Gertler (8 1/2 x 11, 136pp., Research Report Series)
- 2009 Enabling Policy Environments for Co-operative Development: A Comparative Experience. Monica Juarez Adeler (8 1/2 x 11, 40pp., Research Report Series)
- Culture, Creativity, and the Arts: Achieving Community Resilience and Sustainability through the Arts in Sault Ste. Marie. Jude Ortiz and Gayle Broad (8  $1/2 \times 11$ , 133pp., Research Report Series)
- The Role of Co-operatives in Health Care: National and International Perspectives.

  Report of an International Health Care Conference held in Saskatoon 28 October 2008. Prepared by Catherine Leviten-Reid (8 1/2 x 11, 24pp., available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2009 The Importance of Policy for Community Economic Development: A Case Study of the Manitoba Context. Brendan Reimer, Dan Simpson, Jesse Hajer, John Loxley (8 1/2 x 11, 47pp., Research Report Series)
- 2009 Northern Ontario Women's Economic Development Conference Report. PARO Centre

- for Women's Enterprise (8 1/2 x 11, 66pp., Research Report Series)
- 2008 Evaluation of Saskatoon Urban Aboriginal Strategy. Cara Spence and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 44pp., Research Report Series)
- 2008 *Urban Aboriginal Strategy Funding Database*. Karen Lynch, Cara Spence, and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 22pp., Research Report Series)
- Social Enterprises and the Ontario Disability Support Program: A Policy Perspective on Employing Persons with Disabilities. Gayle Broad and Madison Saunders (8 1/2 x 11, 41pp., Research Report Series)
- 2008 A New Vision for Saskatchewan: Changing Lives and Systems through Individualized Funding for People with Intellectual Disabilities. Karen Lynch and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 138pp., Research Report Series)
- 2008 Community Supported Agriculture: Putting the "Culture" Back into Agriculture.

  Miranda Mayhew, Cecilia Fernandez, and Lee-Ann Chevrette (8 1/2 x 11, 10pp.,
  Research Report Series)
- 2008 Algoma Central Railway: Wilderness Tourism by Rail Opportunity Study. Prepared by Malone Given Parsons Ltd. for the Coalition for Algoma Passenger Trains (8 1/2 x 11, 82pp., Research Report Series)
- Recovery of the Collective Memory and Projection into the Future: ASOPRICOR. Jose Reyes, Janeth Valero, and Gayle Broad (8 1/2 x 11, 44pp., Research Report Series)
- 2008 Measuring and Mapping the Impact of Social Economy Enterprises: The Role of Co-ops in Community Population Growth. Chipo Kangayi, Rose Olfert, and Mark Partridge (8 1/2 x 11, 42pp., Research Report Series)
- 2008 Financing Social Enterprise: An Enterprise Perspective. Wanda Wuttunee, Martin Chicilo, Russ Rothney, and Lois Gray (8 1/2 x 11, 32pp., Research Report Series)
- 2008 Financing Social Enterprise: A Scan of Financing Providers in the Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and Northwestern Ontario Region. Wanda Wuttunee, Russ Rothney, and Lois Gray (8 1/2 x 11, 39pp., Research Report Series)
- 2008 Government Policies towards Community Economic Development and the Social Economy in Quebec and Manitoba. John Loxley and Dan Simpson (8 1/2 x 11, 66pp., Research Report Series)
- 2008 Growing Pains: Social Enterprise in Saskatoon's Core Neighbourhoods. Mitch Diamantopoulos and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 70pp., Research Report Series)
- 2008 Between Solidarity and Profit: The Agricultural Transformation Societies in Spain (1940–2000). Cándido Román Cervantes (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2006 *Co-operative Membership: Issues and Challenges.* Bill Turner (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 2006 Innovations in Co-operative Marketing and Communications. Leslie Brown (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)

- 2006 Cognitive Processes and Co-operative Business Strategy. Murray Fulton and Julie Gibbings (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Heritage: Where We've Come From. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 18pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Membership as a Complex and Dynamic Social Process. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 28pp. \$5)
- 2006 Cohesion, Adhesion, and Identities in Co-operatives. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 42pp. \$5)
- 2006 Revisiting the Role of Co-operative Values and Principles: Do They Act to Include or Exclude? Lou Hammond Ketilson (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Social Responsibility: A Natural Advantage? Andrea Harris (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- 2006 Globalization and Co-operatives. William Coleman (6 x 9, 24pp. \$5)
- 2006 Leadership and Representational Diversity. Cristine de Clercy (6 x 9, 20pp. \$5)
- Synergy and Strategic Advantage: Co-operatives and Sustainable Development. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- Communities under Pressure: The Role of Co-operatives and the Social Economy, synthesis report of a conference held in Ottawa, March 2006, sponsored by the Centre; PRI, Government of Canada; SSHRC; Human Resources and Social Development Canada; and the Co-operatives Secretariat (English and French,  $8\,1/2\,x\,11,\,14pp.$ , free)
- 2006 Farmers' Association Training Materials (part of the China-Canada Agriculture Development Program prepared for Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada and the Canadian International Development Agency). Roger Herman and Murray Fulton (8 1/2 x 11, 134pp., available on our website)
- 2006 International Seminar on Legislation for Farmer Co-operatives in China: A Canadian Perspective. Daniel Ish, Bill Turner, and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 22pp., available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- Networking Diversity: Including Women and Other Under-Represented Groups in Co-operatives. Myfanwy Van Vliet (8 1/2 x 11, 24pp., Research Report Series)
- 2004 Living the Dream: Membership and Marketing in the Co-operative Retailing System.

  Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 288pp. \$20)
- 2004 Building a Dream: The Co-operative Retailing System in Western Canada, 1928–1988 (reprint). Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 352pp. \$20)
- 2004 Cohesion, Consumerism, and Co-operatives: Looking ahead for the Co-operative Retailing System. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2004 Co-operative Membership and Globalization: New Directions in Research and Practice. Brett Fairbairn and Nora Russell, eds. (6 x 9, 320pp. \$20)
- 2003 Beyond Beef and Barley: Organizational Innovation and Social Factors in Farm

- *Diversification and Sustainability.* Michael Gertler, JoAnn Jaffe, and Lenore Swystun (8 1/2 x 11, 118pp., Research Report Series, \$12)
- The Role of Social Cohesion in the Adoption of Innovation and Selection of Organizational Form. Roger Herman (8 1/2 x 11, 58pp., Research Report Series)
- Three Strategic Concepts for the Guidance of Co-operatives: Linkage, Transparency, and Cognition. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 38pp. \$5)
- 2003 The Role of Farmers in the Future Economy. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- Is It the End of Utopia? The Israeli Kibbutz at the Twenty-First Century. Uriel Leviatan (6 x 9, 36pp. \$5)
- 2003 Up a Creek with a Paddle: Excellence in the Boardroom. Ann Hoyt (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2002 A Report on Aboriginal Co-operatives in Canada: Current Situation and Potential for Growth. L. Hammond Ketilson and I. MacPherson (8 1/2 x 11, 400pp. \$35)
- 2001 Against All Odds: Explaining the Exporting Success of the Danish Pork Co-operatives.

  Jill Hobbs (6 x 9, 40pp. \$5)
- 2001 Rural Co-operatives and Sustainable Development. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 36pp. \$5)
- 2001 NGCs: Resource Materials for Business Development Professionals and Agricultural Producers. (binder, 8 1/2 x 11, 104pp. \$17)
- 2001 New Generation Co-operative Development in Canada. Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- New Generation Co-operatives: Key Steps in the Issuance of Securities / The Secondary Trade. Brenda Stefanson, Ian McIntosh, Dean Murrison (6 x 9, 34pp. \$5)
- New Generation Co-operatives and the Law in Saskatchewan. Chad Haaf and Brenda Stefanson (6 x 9, 20pp. \$5)
- 2001 An Economic Impact Analysis of the Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan: Update 1998. Roger Herman and Murray Fulton (8 1/2 x 11, 64pp. available on our website in downloadable pdf format as well as on loan from our Resource Centre)
- Co-operative Development and the State: Case Studies and Analysis. Two volumes. Vol. I, pt. 1: Summary, Observations, and Conclusions about Co-operative Development; vol. I, pt. 2: Issues in Co-operative Development and Co-operative—State Relations, Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 66pp. \$8); vol. II, pt. 3: Co-operative Development and Sector—State Relations in the U.S.A., Brett Fairbairn and Laureen Gatin; vol. II, pt. 4: A Study of Co-operative Development and Government—Sector Relations in Australia, Garry Cronan and Jayo Wickremarachchi (6 x 9, 230pp. \$12)
- 2000 Interdisciplinarity and the Transformation of the University. Brett Fairbairn and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 2000 *The CUMA Farm Machinery Co-operatives.* Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 46pp. \$5)

- 2000 Farm Machinery Co-operatives in Saskatchewan and Québec. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 42pp. \$5)
- 2000 Farm Machinery Co-operatives: An Idea Worth Sharing. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 2000 Canadian Co-operatives in the Year 2000: Memory, Mutual Aid, and the Millennium. Brett Fairbairn, Ian MacPherson, and Nora Russell, eds. (6 x 9, 356pp. \$22)
- 1999 Networking for Success: Strategic Alliances in the New Agriculture. Mona Holmlund and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 1999 Prairie Connections and Reflections: The History, Present, and Future of Co-operative Education. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- 1999 *The SANASA Model: Co-operative Development through Micro-Finance.* Ingrid Fischer, Lloyd Hardy, Daniel Ish, and Ian MacPherson (6 x 9, 80pp. \$10)
- 1999 A Car-Sharing Co-operative in Winnipeg: Recommendations and Alternatives. David Leland (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 1998 Working Together: The Role of External Agents in the Development of Agriculture-Based Industries. Andrea Harris, Murray Fulton, Brenda Stefanson, and Don Lysyshyn (8 1/2 x 11, 184pp. \$12)
- 1998 The Social and Economic Importance of the Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan. Lou Hammond Ketilson, Michael Gertler, Murray Fulton, Roy Dobson, and Leslie Polsom (8 1/2 x 11, 244 pp. free)
- 1998 Proceedings of the Women in Co-operatives Forum, 7–8 November 1997, Moose Jaw, SK (8 1/2 x 11, 112pp. \$12)
- 1997 A Discussion Paper on Canadian Wheat Board Governance. Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 Balancing Act: Crown Corporations in a Successful Economy. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 *A Conversation about Community Development.* Centre for the Study of Cooperatives (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 *Credit Unions and Community Economic Development.* Brett Fairbairn, Lou Hammond Ketilson, and Peter Krebs (6 x 9, 32pp. \$5)
- New Generation Co-operatives: Responding to Changes in Agriculture. Brenda Stefanson and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1996 Legal Responsibilities of Directors and Officers in Canadian Co-operatives. Daniel Ish and Kathleen Ring (6 x 9, 148pp. \$15)
- 1995 Making Membership Meaningful: Participatory Democracy in Co-operatives. The International Joint Project on Co-operative Democracy (5 1/2 x 8 1/2, 356pp. \$22)

- 1995 New Generation Co-operatives: Rebuilding Rural Economies. Brenda Stefanson, Murray Fulton, and Andrea Harris (6 x 9, 24pp. \$5)
- 1994 Research for Action: Women in Co-operatives. Leona Theis and Lou Hammond Ketilson (8 1/2 x 11, 98pp. \$12)

To order from the list on pages 55–63, please contact: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives 101 Diefenbaker Place University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, SK Canada S7N 5B8 Phone: (306) 966–8509 / Fax: (306) 966–8517

E-mail: coop.studies@usask.ca Website: www.usaskstudies.coop

### Regional Partner Organizations



Centre for the Study of Co-operatives



Community-University Institute for Social Research



Community Economic and Social Development Unit Algoma University College



Institute of Urban Studies University of Winnipeg

## **Project Funding**



Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada

Conseil de recherches en sciences humaines du Canada

